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The PMSA Group is proud to acknowledge the Traditional Custodians of the land on which our PMSA Group Office and schools now stand and where 
our students have the privilege of learning each day – the Turrbal peoples from the north side of the Brisbane River, the Jagera peoples from the south 
side of the Brisbane River and the Kabi Kabi and Jinibara peoples of the Sunshine Coast. We pay our respects to Elders past, present and emerging.

The PMSA – Presbyterian and Methodist Schools 
Association – owns four outstanding Queensland 
schools: Brisbane Boys’ College, Clayfield College, 
Somerville House and Sunshine Coast Grammar School. 
Established in 1918, the PMSA was formed as a joint 
mission of the Uniting Church in Australia, Queensland 
Synod and the Presbyterian Church of Queensland.

More than a hundred years on, the PMSA Group plays 
a vital role in setting the direction of our four schools to 
deliver exceptional Christian educational environments 
and is the connecting link between the schools and the 
founding churches.

Each PMSA school is unique and individual, but shares 
and is guided by our Christian values – relationships, 
care, ethics, personal development, excellence and 
celebration. PMSA schools share their knowledge and 
expertise with each other to enhance the educational 
experience for students across all schools. 
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2020 GROUP HIGHLIGHTS

NEW STAFF ORIENTATION  
In January, the PMSA warmly welcomed 
120 new staff from all four PMSA schools, 
the PMSA Group Office as well as Board 
members, School Council members and 
Committee members at the annual new 
staff orientation day held at Brisbane 
Boys’ College. 

JANUARY MARCH

THANK YOU TO VOLUNTEERS 
During National Volunteer Week 2020 
in May, the PMSA recognised and 
acknowledged all of our wonderful 
volunteers who work so hard to make the 
PMSA and our four schools so great. As a 
not-for-profit organisation, we know more 
than most how hard our volunteers work 
to support our organisation.

MAY

NATIONAL REDRESS SCHEME  
After more than a year of working 
through the approval process, the 
PMSA and our schools were approved 
to participate in the National Redress 
Scheme in May. Those who have 
experienced abuse can now seek redress 
through the National Redress Scheme.

2020 PMSA TEACHER 
EDUCATION SCHOLARSHIP 
WINNERS 
The 2020 PMSA Teacher Education 
Scholarship winners were announced 
in January and are a positive sign for 
the future of teaching with three of 
the four winners male students. 2020 
Scholarship winners were Brisbane 
Boys’ College graduates Jack Ryan and 
Nicholas Fowles and Thomas Yarrow and 
Clayfield College graduate Lily Andrews. 
(see Focus story: Teacher Education 
Scholarship recipient truly connects with 
others and with God page 31).

NEW PRINCIPAL 
Clayfield College’s seventh Principal 
Dr Andrew Cousins commenced in 
early January. Reflecting the warm and 
caring community that is the heart of 
Clayfield, Dr Cousins was welcomed at 
a Commissioning ceremony in March 
which brought together the whole 
community. 

PANDEMIC DECLARED 
On 11 March, the COVID-19 world-wide 
pandemic was declared and our world, 
our country and our schools changed.
We are so proud of and grateful for our 
wonderful staff who worked with such 
agility, care and passion to put together 
at home learning programs that truly 
outshone other schools. (see Focus story: 
We’ve been here before page 40).

CULTURAL EVOLUTION 
PMSA Board members, School Council 
members, Committee members and 
PMSA Group Office executives came 
together in early March for a PMSA 
culture workshop. A key outcome of the 
governance review, PMSA Chair-elect 
Morgan Parker introduced the workshop 
highlighting the importance of evolving 
the PMSA culture.

NEW PMSA CHAIR 
In March, Morgan Parker became the 
PMSA Chair following the retirement 
of Chair Greg Adsett.  A recognised 
philanthropist and previous PMSA 
Deputy Chair, Morgan brings his extensive 
experience serving on many boards over 
the last 18 years in commercial, not-for-
profit and industry organisations. 
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JUNE SEPTEMBER

WORLD TEACHERS’ DAY 
Celebrating World Teachers’ Day in 
Queensland on 30 October, the PMSA 
said a very big thank you to all our 
wonderful staff across our four schools 
with a small (but yummy) token of 
appreciation. 

OCTOBER

LEADERS IN HOME LEARNING IN 
THE NEWS 
During the home learning period in late 
May and June, our schools were often 
featured in the news highlighting our 
unique programs, our great students and 
families and our skilled and dedicated 
staff (see Focus story: Remote learning 
program boosts enrolments page 41).

PLEDGE FOR NATIONAL CHILD 
PROTECTION 
During National Child Protection Week in 
September, the PMSA pledged alongside 
hundreds of other organisations – “The 
PMSA and our schools pledge to create 
safe spaces for children to learn, where 
they are valued and their voices are 
heard.” In support of the Week, the PMSA 
encouraged all members of our PMSA 
and school community to play our part 
in keeping our children safe and well, 
particularly with the added stress on 
families due to the pandemic.

PMSA INTRODUCES POLICY 
MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK
In September, the PMSA Board 
approved and introduced the Group’s 
first Policy Management Framework. 
While policies are a critical component 
of any large organisation that defines 
behaviour, values and consistent rules, 
the Framework defines how policies 
are developed and implemented. (see 
Focus story: PMSA introduces new Policy 
Management Framework page 12).

GOVERNANCE CELEBRATION 
More than 40 governance officers 
across the PMSA Group – PMSA 
Board, PMSA Committees and School 
Council members – as well as the 
many executives from important 
school volunteer bodies such as P&F 
Associations, Foundations and Old 
Collegians and Old Girls Associations 
came together at a Christmas drinks 
function.  Attendees were thanked for 
their tireless efforts, commitment and 
passion to our combined goal and shared 
in the exciting journey and new direction 
of the PMSA.

NOVEMBER

AUGUST

TRADITIONAL CUSTODIANS 
ACKNOWLEDGED 
As a part of the PMSA’s Christian 
mission and vision to build caring 
school communities, the PMSA has 
developed a Groupwide standard to 
ensure respectful protocols are followed 
in all PMSA meetings and gatherings 
publicly acknowledging the Traditional 
Custodians of the land. These are 
also now included on PMSA public 
communication including our PMSA 
website and email footers. 

OUTSTANDING 2020 ATAR 
PERFORMANCES 
2020 Year 12s from all of our PMSA schools 
achieved fabulous academic results. Not 
only were these students marred by the 
significant impact of COVID-19, 2020 
seniors were also trailblazing their way as 
the first Year 12 cohort in Queensland to 
receive an ATAR. Across our four schools, 
a remarkable five students achieved the 
top ATAR score of 99.95 – five of only 30 
available in the state.

DECEMBER

NEW PMSA ENTERPRISE 
AGREEMENT
In December, more than 85% of PMSA 
staff voted yes for the new PMSA 
Enterprise Agreement – an innovative 
and effective EA that suits everyone. (see 
Focus story: PMSA’s innovative Enterprise 
Agreement page 23).
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Over a century ago, the PMSA purchased the land to move Brisbane High School 
for Girls from leased premises at Wickham Terrace to South Brisbane.  In doing so it 
created an opportunity for the fledgling school now known as Somerville House to 
grow and become one of the finest girls’ schools in Australia.  

At the same time across town, the PMSA was 
transforming the recently acquired Clayfield College into 
Brisbane Boys’ College, ultimately creating two unique 
schools that would later go on to also become icons in 
the Australian independent education landscape.

The ambition, social foresight and entrepreneurialism 
of our PMSA predecessors was truly magnificent.  Their 
Christian faith, determination to prepare young girls 
and boys for a life of purpose, and incessant optimism 
for Australia’s future are the pillars upon which we now 
stand.  In the decades that followed, we continued to be 
leaders in our field.

Today we have more than 100 years of history and 
achievement and four outstanding schools including 
Sunshine Coast Grammar School. This history and 
the prospect of our future is what motivates me to 
courageously remain progressive in the important forums 
of social justice, governance and education.

A couple of years ago, the PMSA was given the 
opportunity to thoroughly examine ourselves, our 
industry, and our responsibilities to our community and 

society-at-large. Since 2018, we have made rapid progress 
with more than 50 changes to our governance model.  
Thematically these changes affirm our commitment to a 
shared model of governance, with greater transparency, 
and more aptly-scoped roles for those who volunteer.

Apart from the structural changes we have made, we 
all know how important it is for there to be healthy 
renewal of personnel in organisations seeking change. 
With 22 new governance officers appointed in 2020, this 
refreshing has enabled us to pinpoint the exact skills, 
diversity of experience, and the representative voices we 
need, to move the PMSA and our schools confidently into 
the future.

But from the 2020 year, we all know the future has 
many unknowns but also has many known obstacles: 
1) Competition in the independent school sector is 
increasing while the overall number of students enrolled 
in Queensland independent schools is pretty flat; 2) 
government funding of independent schools is in 
decline; 3) School operating costs continue to rise; and 4) 
parents’ ability to shoulder more tuition fees is doubtful. 
So net-net, our financial business model is under threat. 

FROM THE CHAIR
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In addition, our legislative environment demands 
contemporary compliance, and continues to create 
new obligations reflective of society’s broader 
ambitions; parents, and other school stakeholders, 
have expectations of school executives and governance 
officers that have never been higher; and this is all at 
a time when society’s trust in institutions has perhaps 
never been lower. So net-net, more than ever, we have to 
be better at everything we do.

Our PMSA future and that of our four PMSA schools is 
imagined in both our overall PMSA strategic plan and 
the plans developed individually by each of the schools.  
Our strategic initiatives are prioritised to overcome these 
“contextual head-winds”.  It is clear we cannot meet 
the profound challenges of this new moment with old 
thinking and unchanged habits — or without diversity of 
background and perspective.

As I end my first year as the PMSA Chair, I would like to 
thank all our staff across the Group for your commitment 
to excellence, continuous improvement and the sense 
of purpose you bring to your job every day.  For many, 
it’s a now a case of achieving more with less, and in 
this context, we have witnessed great innovation and 
entrepreneurialism throughout this past year.

Collectively as the PMSA Group, we remain a ‘work-
in-progress’.  There will always be important initiatives 
to work on, areas for improvement and opportunities 
to evolve.  With our shared governance model, we 
have the chance to draw upon the skills, perspective 
and experiences of many.  Individual, stand-alone, 
independent schools in Queensland simply cannot 
compete with the talent we now have in our midst.   

The hyper-focus on ‘governance reform’ now makes 
the PMSA the most contemporary and well-positioned 
owner of schools in the market.  

So now we must unite in spirit and in purpose.  We must 
fearlessly identify our vulnerabilities and, with a sense of 
urgency, work together to achieve more.  

We must marshal the goodwill that exists in our 
communities, to support our schools, as they restructure 
themselves for a new century.  A century defined not 
by parochialism but by global benchmarks, where 
technological innovation, consumer choice, social 
citizenship, and relentless transparency will determine 
our prosperity.

Our future is ours to define. We are guided by our 
Christian faith, and we stand on the shoulders of all 
those who have served and given so generously before 
us.  Let us work together, for however long we are 
here.  Let us offer compassion and trust in each other, 
and by strengthening our relationships, build a robust 
organisation and schools that go to the next level.  

Organisationally, we have a century-long history of 
success, school identities that are synonymous with 
excellence in Christian education, a balance sheet built 
on treasured assets, and now a strategic plan to harness 
our collective strength.  I’m exceedingly confident that, 
despite the head-winds, many joyous days lie ahead.

May God bless each of our schools, students, staff and 
volunteers.

Morgan Parker
PMSA Chair

So now we must unite in spirit and  
in purpose. We must fearlessly identify our  
vulnerabilities and, with a sense of urgency,  

work together to achieve more.  
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2020 is a year that became truly unlike any other and one I certainly didn’t see coming. 
It is one we will all remember across the globe, but at the PMSA, I will remember it as 
the year we achieved so much and reached a milestone in the PMSA’s transformation. 

Whilst COVID-19 forced us to re-engineer and review 
many aspects of our personal and professional lives, 
it also helped us focus on the important and the 
meaningful. 

Our schools’ reaction to this pandemic were an 
outstanding example of how best to respond – 
prioritising and excelling in home-based learning and 
then back in the classroom, as well as providing care 
and support for staff and students. We received many 
accolades for our schools’ responses, and I congratulate 
and commend all of our four great schools – our staff 
went well above and beyond.

From a governance perspective, our response to 
COVID-19 was also very effective. Significant time, energy 
and resources were applied by the Board and Group 
Office staff to ensure the ongoing sustainability and 
prosperity of our organisation - which as you know is a 
large and complex entity. 

To put this in perspective, the PMSA Group’s total assets 
are in excess of half a billion dollars. The PMSA Group 
generates a total annual revenue of around $140 million. 
Given our size and complexity, the PMSA Board obtains 

advice and assistance and delegates some governance 
responsibilities to four Board Committees and four 
School Councils – a group of more than 40 governance 
volunteer officers across the Group.  

We also have more than 1000 staff employed in 
various capacities across our four schools, more than 
4500 current students, more than 3000 families, 
and thousands and thousands of past students, who 
maintain a lifelong connection to their school. 500 
fresh-faced young adults have graduated at the end of 
2020 to join these ranks. And across our four schools, 
each school has at least three volunteer organisations 
each with subcommittees and support groups.

Despite the conditions, 2020 saw many achievements 
for the PMSA Group. One outstanding achievement was 
the successful negotiation of the PMSA’s new Enterprise 
Agreement with an overwhelming yes vote for by the 
end of the year.  We’ve also begun implementing a 
Group-wide HR information system that is a first-of-
its-kind in the education industry.  This management 
tool will enable us to create an unprecedented level of 
sophistication in our workforce relations as we strive to 
remain an employer-of-choice.

FROM THE CEO
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Throughout 2020, we also worked to leverage our Group 
scale; this year alone we have saved almost $1 million 
through joint procurement efforts in ‘back of house’ 
areas which importantly don’t interfere with each 
school’s unique methods of delivering education.

In late 2020, we were also pleased to somewhat draw 
a line in the sand and feature in The Courier-Mail’s 
Qweekend magazine. Although the article resurfaced 
past stories, it did demonstrate that we are an 
organisation learning from past mistakes. 

The PMSA has turned a corner and is now well 
positioned for the future. My reflections are that the 
key to our current and future success is continued 
relationship building and respect for the important and 
varied roles we all play. 

We now have the right modern governance framework 
and the right people in key roles. As the Qweekend 
article noted “We are new leadership and we are getting 
back on track”. 

To celebrate this achievement and the lifting of COVID 
restrictions, at the end of the year we were pleased to 
host the first celebratory PMSA governance event with 
representatives from all our governance bodies and 
Groups since I began in my role two and a half  
years ago. 

As I did at that event, I would like to take this 
opportunity to thank members of the PMSA Board for 
your ongoing commitment to our Christian mission. 
This Christian commitment is something that drew me 
to the role as CEO in 2018. I’d also like to particularly 
thank the PMSA Chair Morgan Parker for your tireless 
commitment and overwhelming sense of passion to see 
our schools and the PMSA as a whole, be the very best 
it can be.

Finally, I would like to thank my Group Office executive 
colleagues and staff who have worked so hard during 
the year. 

For 2020, I would like to share this prayer of reflection. 

God of wisdom and truth,
as we end this most memorable year 
we look back and we look forward.
In the year that has passed
we experienced joy and we experienced sorrow;
we felt blessed and we felt challenged.
We are reminded that you are present through it all.
We are reminded that we are never alone.
We are reminded that nothing can separate us from 
your love.
So at the end of this year,
we pause to reflect.
We remember the things from this past year that we 
are most thankful for.
Gracious God,
we also look forward to the year to come.
We are confident that you will be with us still,
God, the world we live in is messy and challenging,
Yet, God, you are with us always.
So give us grace and give us courage
to work together and live faithfully in this imperfect 
world.
Remind us always of the promise of your kingdom,
emerging around us and through us.
In Jesus’s name Amen. 

Sharon Callister 
PMSA Group Chief Executive Officer

The PMSA has turned a corner and is now well-positioned 
for the future. My reflections are that the key to our current 
and future success is continued relationship-building and 

respect for the important and varied roles we all play. 
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FOCUS
ANNUAL AUSTRALIAN LEADERSHIP LECTURE - TODAY’S CHALLENGES 
FOR TOMORROW’S LEADERS

There are few moments when we have the time to 
contemplate the larger issues in life, such as the future 
of our nation and our world, and how we can shape it.

The new PMSA Annual Australian Leadership Lecture is 
designed in this spirit to do just that – promote thought 
and debate among our emerging leaders on important 
social issues, particularly around Australia’s national 
identity, gender equality and the environmental impact 
we are having on our earth.

An initiative from the PMSA’s Strategic Plan 2019-2023, 
the inaugural Annual Australian Leadership Lecture 
was to be held in April 2020. But COVID-19 had other 
plans. Instead, like many things planned for 2020, 
the inaugural lecture was postponed to 2021. We 
look forward to Australian indigenous leader, lawyer, 
academic and founder of Cape York Partnership Noel 
Pearson as the inaugural key-note speaker. 

Primarily held for our emerging leaders – more than 500 
Year 12 students attending our PMSA schools – as well 
as their parents and education mentors, this lecture is a 
part of the Year 12 journey at a PMSA school. 

It gives our next generation of leaders the opportunity 
to come together and listen to the view of an Australian 
whose life experience is remarkable and whose opinions 
and concerns about the future of our nation and our 
world are truly worth considering.

PMSA Chair Morgan Parker said the Annual Australian 
Leadership Lecture was a new initiative as part of the 
PMSA’s Strategic Plan to foster academic excellence and 
drive innovation through thought and debate. 

“Our society and indeed our four PMSA school 
communities are shaped and influenced by discussions 
and debates which inform, educate and challenge. We 
are delighted to be launching the Annual Australian 
Leadership Lecture series with such a compelling 
speaker, Noel Pearson, who will be discussing a 
thought-provoking and timely subject,” he said.

Each year the Lecture will feature thought-leaders, 
policymakers, accomplished academics, or business 
innovators as guest speakers. 
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During 2020, the PMSA’s Strategic Plan 2019 – 2023 was in the early stages of 
progressing the 15 initiatives. COVID-19 stalled the progress of some initiatives, 
however, others were able to progress and develop well despite the restrictions. 

In addition to the ongoing governance reforms and 
updates that continue to take place across the Group 
in order to modernise the Group’s governance practice 
and performance, the following are other key projects 
that have developed from the PMSA’s Strategic 
Plan. The PMSA’s commitment to these projects 
demonstrates our continued effort to modernise and 
future proof the Group. 

OPTIMISING SCHOOL SIZE
In line with our Strategic Plan, we are encouraging our 
schools to settle on their optimal size to deliver the 
best quality education outcomes, and by determining 
that ideal composition, be in a position to provide a 
higher degree of financial certainty. 

With some obvious exceptions, the era of growth in 
student population for growth’s sake is at an end. Our 
PMSA schools are finite, so it’s now about consolidating 
and fine tuning our proposition, to focus on excellence.

GOVERNANCE CULTURE WORKSHOP
In early 2020, the PMSA took action to evolve the 
PMSA culture. PMSA Board members, School Council 
members, Committee members and PMSA Group 
Office executives came together for a PMSA culture 
workshop.

The workshop was a key outcome of the governance 
review and attendees discussed the long history of 
the Group and the importance of evolving the PMSA 
culture to ensure the we grow and develop.

The workshop was facilitated by organisational 
psychologist Richard Fryer and the first of several in the 
cultural change journey. 

The group looked at the challenges in the world of 
education and to the PMSA and our schools and then 
looked at what needs to grow and evolve internally in 
order to adapt to future changes.

ANNUAL AUSTRALIAN LEADERSHIP LECTURE
One of the key initiatives developed was the Annual 
Australian Leadership Lecture which was developed 
to foster academic excellence and drive innovation 
through thought and debate. 

Designed for our emerging leaders – our Year 12 
students attending our PMSA schools – this lecture is  
a part of the Year 12 journey at a PMSA school. 
Although postponed in 2020 due to COVID-19 
restrictions, key-note speaker Australian indigenous 

leader, lawyer, academic and founder of Cape York 
Partnership Noel Pearson has agreed to postpone his 
participation until 2021. 

FUTURE LEADERS PROGRAM 
Commencing in 2021, the new PMSA Future Leaders 
Program is a key initiative of the Strategic Plan 
to provide scholarship, learning and enrichment 
opportunities for our students and educators. 

The PMSA understands that excellent school leaders 
are fundamental to a high-quality education system. 
A sustained focus on the professional growth of school 
leaders will support the achievement of the vision of 
the PMSA in successfully transitioning high performing 
staff into leadership positions.

The objective of the Future Leaders Program is to 
develop the leadership capacity of PMSA senior 
leaders, supporting a succession plan into future 
roles while igniting productivity and maintaining a 
competitive advantage.

SUCCESSION PLANNING / MARKET SCANNING
In addition to developing our future leaders within our 
existing staff cohort, the PMSA also focussed resources 
on developing a plan for future succession planning 
of our PMSA school Principals and senior staff. During 
2020, we conducted initial market scanning across the 
country for prospective and future leaders. 

NEW EDUCATION ASSET
During 2020, the PMSA began work on a large project 
in consultation with the school leadership. The PMSA 
is investigating the acquisition and development of a 
new education asset that will create a tangible and 
unique advantage for all of our schools, and enable 
them to overcome the typical catchment-based 
competition paradigm they are currently locked in.  

It is early days of this special project and we look 
forward to providing more details in 2021.

STRATEGIC PLAN 2019 – 2023
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FOCUS
PMSA INTRODUCES NEW POLICY MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK  

Policy management is a critical part of any large 
organisation. Policy defines behaviour, values, 
and consistent rules, while a Policy Management 
Framework – effectively a ‘policy on policies’ – defines 
how these policies are developed and implemented, 
establishing accountability throughout the 
organisation. 

To further deliver on the PMSA’s 2018 governance 
review, the PMSA’s Group Office and Policy Committee 
developed and launched an overarching PMSA Policy 
Management Framework in 2020. 

While being a key outcome of the governance review, 
the Policy Management Framework is also a key 
deliverable from the PMSA Strategic Plan 2019-2023. 

PMSA Chief Executive Officer Sharon Callister said the 
establishment of this framework creates a consistent 
approach to how our documents and practices are 
reviewed and managed and the mechanisms by which 
the system enables the continued delivery or the 
organisations operational and strategic objectives.

“This Policy Management Framework forms part 
of the PMSA’s quality practices as a contemporary 
organisation to enable efficient operations and reduce 
unnecessary bureaucracy, confusion and waste,” Mrs 
Callister said. 

“The result of an effectively operating framework is an 
increase in productivity, opportunity for excellence, 
ultimately being able to deliver better value for our 
staff, students and stakeholders. 

Mrs Callister said this Framework is best practice 
and a tangible step in the PMSA’s demonstration 
of modernising our governance and management 
practices. 

“This is a key document that demonstrates that the 
PMSA is implementing best practice governance and 
management practices. 

“Although we’ve had a central repository of policies 
in our staff portal for many years, we did not have the 
resources to ensure these were over-arching framework 
to guide the development of policies and procedures 
and to ensure those documents are consistent and 
user friendly.”

The PMSA’s Policy Management Framework is a critical 
governing document founded on the principles 
underpinning ISO 9001: 2015 Standard for Quality 
Management Systems. 

The PMSA has used the ISO adapted ‘Plan, Do, Check, 
Act’ (PDCA) diagram which articulates how our 
external environment and stakeholder requirements 
inform our strategic direction, most commonly 
translated in our policies. 

The delivery of these objectives are usually well 
planned and translated in our procedures/manuals. 
After implementation, their effectiveness and 
performance is reviewed and improvements sought. 

This becomes the practical (cyclic) system of which 
the activities and objectives of the organisation are 
defined, undertaken by nominated people in the 
appropriate way, reviewed and innovated over time.

Mrs Callister said in addition to this Framework, a 
range of key new Group-wide policies were developed 
through 2020 including the Whistleblower Policy – one 
of the first of its kind in the education industry – the 
Diversity and Inclusion Policy, the Pandemic Policy and 
the Working from Home Policy. 

The PMSA has also launched a Risk Management 
Framework as well as a Stakeholder Engagement 
Framework embedding best practice in these areas 
into the culture and fabric of the organisation. 

This Framework demonstrates leadership and good 
governance through appropriate resourcing of
contemporary policy development, oversight and
improvement practices.
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PMSA'S PUSH FOR PROFESSIONALISM IN GOVERNANCE  

Throughout 2020, the PMSA worked to rapidly change 
the face and professionalism of school governance with 
the appointment of 22 new governance members to the 
PMSA Board, PMSA Committees and School Councils. 

Appointed to the Board in 2020 were experienced 
senior executive in the education industry Greg Eddy, 
accountant partner Jane Madden, lawyer Dr Bridget 
Cullen and CFO Peter Barker. 

PMSA Chair Morgan Parker said the knowledge and 
expertise these new members bring are an asset to the 
Board and contemporise the PMSA’s governance.

“Our schools educate some of the finest future 
citizens of the world and these appointments reflect 
the expectations and representation of our school 
communities,” Mr Parker said. 

To the School Councils across 2020, the PMSA Board 
appointed members including current parent and 
senior executive Matthew Miller to the Somerville House 
School Council, current parent and president of the 
Brisbane Boys’ College (BBC) P&F Association Paul Martin 
and Old Collegian Hamish Turner OAM to the BBC 
Council, Dr Vicki Waters and Sharon McAvoy
to the Clayfield College Council and Old Collegian 
Sandra McCullagh as Chair, and current parent and 
retired military leader Ken Watson as Chair and Jennifer 
Radbourne as member of the Sunshine Coast Grammar 
School (SCGS) Council.

In the new and newly-refreshed PMSA Committees, 
the PMSA Board appointed several new members 
including inspirational TEDx speaker Duku Forè, Delvene 
Cockatoo-Collins and Deputy Director-General for 
the Department of Youth Justice Phillip Brooks to 
the PMSA Policy Committee; accomplished finance 

director and BBC Old Collegian Geoffrey Brown to 
the Audit, Finance and Risk Committee; barrister and 
Clayfield College Old Collegian Dr Jacoba Brasch and 
child protection experts Richard Roylance and Michael 
Pecic to the new Child Protection and Safeguarding 
Committee; and executive search experts Jon Hottot and 
Somerville Old Girl Rebecca Bauer to the Nominations 
and Human Resources Committee alongside Fair Work 
Commissioner Paula Spencer and HR and governance 
executive Dr Christina Turner.

Commenting on the many new appointments, PMSA 
Chair Morgan Parker said the calibre of the appointments 
reflects positively on the transformation underway within 
the PMSA. 

“The successful appointees demonstrate our focus 
on contemporary governance practice and direct 
connection with our school communities.” 

“The new governance officers create not only a sense of 
renewal but an undeniable energy and momentum will 
we carry into the future,” Mr Parker said. 

The PMSA Group now has more than 40 highly-qualified 
and experienced volunteer governance members across 
the PMSA Board, Committees and School Councils who 
together share the PMSA’s future strategic vision.

In addition to our recent governance appointments, the 
PMSA Group has made significant improvements to 
establish valuable Group capabilities. These reflect those 
demanded of a large and complex organisation as well 
as those of a leading education institution.

These Group capabilities are already adding value to our 
schools, creating opportunities for students, reducing 
organisational risk and ultimately reducing costs.

FOCUS
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The PMSA Group is governed by a Board of Directors which comprises up to 13 Board 
members. Up to five Board members are each appointed by the Presbyterian Church 
and the Uniting Church and up to three are directly appointed by the PMSA Board. 
Each Board member is a volunteer and holds office for three years. Board members 
are eligible for re-appointment up to a maximum period of nine years.

The PMSA Board is supported by eight committees – four advising committees and a School Council at each of 
the four schools – as well as the PMSA Group Office. Members of the School Councils and Committees are also 
volunteers.  

2020 BOARD
Early 2020 saw new PMSA Chair Morgan Parker take over from retiring Chair Greg Adsett and a number of new 
appointments to the PMSA Board including Bridget Cullen as a Board-appointed member, Jane Madden, Peter Barker 
and Greg Eddy at the end of 2020. 

In addition to Greg Adsett’s retirement, five PMSA Board members retired throughout 2020: Con Graves, Greg Braithwaite, 
Mark Gray, Helen Murray and Greg Skelton. The PMSA Board would like to thank these outgoing Board members for their 
dedication, contribution and commitment to the PMSA during their respective terms. 

THE PMSA BOARD
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Peter Barker is a senior finance executive with 
more than 30 years’ experience with multinational 
corporations in Australia, Asia, Europe and the 
USA. Chief Financial Officer (CFO) of ASX listed 
Cardno Ltd, Peter was initially appointed to the 
PMSA’s Audit, Finance and Risk Committee, 
and later appointed to the PMSA Board by the 
Uniting Church. A proud BBC Old Collegian 
and Vice Captain of his year in 1985, Peter is 
passionate about the important role education 
creates for young people. He believes the PMSA 
is instrumental in creating a level of humility 
among the students to reflect the privilege of 
independent education.

PETER BARKER
BCom, MBA, FCPA, MAICD

Key appointments, roles and qualifications include:
• PMSA Board member (first appointed July 2020, 

current term until 2023)
• Member – PMSA Audit, Finance and Risk Committee 

(appointed July 2020)
• Board member and Chair of the Finance, Audit & Risk 

Management Committee, mental health  
not-for-profit – Grow

• Fellow – CPA Australia
• Member – Australian Institute of Company Directors

Greg Braithwaite has a long career in property and 
business running his own real estate franchise as 
well as holding national and international roles for 
franchise corporate offices. A BBC Old Collegian, 
Greg has a corporate background in business 
planning, strategic thinking, human resources, 
and marketing.

GREG  
BRAITHWAITE  

Key appointments, roles and qualifications include:
• PMSA Board member (first appointed 2018, retired 

March 2020)
• Chairman – Church Board Forest Lake Uniting Church
• Chairperson of Congregation – Forest Lake Uniting 

Church
• Member – Bremer Brisbane Presbytery
• President – P&F Association St John’s Anglican College
• Licensed Real Estate Agent
• Member – Real Estate Institute of Queensland

Greg Adsett became a PMSA Board member to 
serve his Church and community. He highly values 
independent education within a Christian context, 
and has extensive experience in governance on 
community, school and church boards. Appointed 
the PMSA Chair in 2017, Greg appreciates the 
significance of the strategic and operational 
effectiveness that any project must possess before  
it can be undertaken.

GREG ADSETT 
BArch, RAIA, GAICD

Key appointments, roles and qualifications include:
• PMSA Board member (first appointed 2011, retired 

March 2020)
• Chair – PMSA (retired March 2020)
• Member – PMSA Audit, Finance and Risk Committee 

(retired March 2020)
• Non-executive director – Grammar Early Learning Ltd
• Registered architect
• Director – Elevation Architecture 
• Member – Australian Institute of Architects
• Member – Urban Development Institute of Australia
• Member – Property Council of Australia
• Graduate – Australian Institute of Company Directors

The following are members of the PMSA Board during 2020.

Margaret has a passion for the education of young 
people and has a long career in the leadership 
of school communities. Her daughter and sisters 
attended Somerville House and extended family 
members attend Brisbane Boys' College. Margaret 
has worked with school councils for over 10 years.  
Appointed by the Uniting Church, Margaret brings 
a wealth of educational experience to the PMSA 
Board. She has more than 30 years experience 
teaching in both primary and secondary schools. 
Since 1998, she has held leadership positions 
including Head of Department, Deputy Principal 
and Principal of secondary schools.

MARGARET BERRY   
BA, MSc, MEd  

(Leadership), GAICD

Key appointments, roles and qualifications include:
• PMSA Board member (first appointed 2018, current 

term until 2021)
• Member – Somerville House School Council
• Principal – Robertson State School
• Member – Queensland State Primary Principals 

Association
• President – South Branch Queensland Association for 

Gifted & Talented Children
• Member – Queensland College of Teachers
• Member – Uniting Church Schools Commission
• Graduate – Australian Institute of Company Directors
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Greg Eddy has more than 25 years of executive 
and board level experience with particular 
experience in the education industry. He is a 
Board-appointed member of the PMSA Board 
and member of the Clayfield College Council. 
Currently the Chief Executive and Master of King’s 
College at the University of Queensland, Greg is an 
elected member of the University of New England 
Alumni Standing Committee and President of 
the University of Queensland Heads of Colleges’ 
Committee.

Key appointments, roles and qualifications include: 
• PMSA Board member (first appointed November 

2020, current term until 2023)
• Member – Clayfield College Council (appointed 

November 2020)
• Fellow – Australian Institute of Company Directors
• Fellow – Australian Institute of Management
• Member – Australian College of Educators
• Honorary Fellow – Dunmore Lang College within 

Macquarie University
• Member – NAFSA (Association of International 

Educators)
• Member – Queensland College of Teachers
• Member – Australasian Association of Colleges and 

Halls Organisation
• Member – University Colleges Australia (UCA)
 Master and Chief Executive Officer – King’s College, 

University of Queensland

GREG EDDY   
BA, DipEd, Med (Hons),  

FAICD, FAIM, MACE

With a Master of Education and almost 20 years 
working as an administrator in post school 
education, Con Graves is passionate about 
education. A independent PMSA appointed 
member, Con has held positions as a corporate 
services and technology executive leader with 
the Department of Employment, Training and 
Industrial Relations, a Director of Information 
Services at Griffith University and has previously 
sat on the management committee of the Wesley 
Mission’s Registered Training Organisation. A 
retired psychologist, Con brings his extensive 
experience in strategic leadership, change 
management and innovation to the PMSA Board.

CON GRAVES  
BA Hons (Psych), GDipMan, 

MEd, MICDA

Key appointments, roles and qualifications include: 
• PMSA Board member (first appointed 2017, retired 

March 2020)
• Retired psychologist
• Deputy Chair – Wesley Mission Queensland 
• Member – Institute of Community Directors of 

Australia

Appointed Chair of the Brisbane Boys’ College 
Council in January 2019, Mark Gray has been a 
member of the School Council since 2015. A BBC 
Old Collegian, Mark appreciates the benefits of a 
quality education in a Christian environment. 

Mark has an Honorary Doctorate from Griffith 
University and is an Adjunct Professor of 
Economics at the University of Queensland. He 
was awarded a Prime Minister’s Centenary Medal 
in 2003 for services to banking and finance.MARK GRAY

DUniv, B Econ (Hons), Sf Fin, 
FAICD

Key appointments, roles and qualifications include: 
• PMSA Board member (first appointed 2018, retired 

August 2020)
• Chair – Brisbane Boys’ College Council (retired August 

2020)
• Fellow  – Australian Institute of Company Directors
• Senior Fellow, Financial Services Institute of Australia
• Chairman –  Sugar Terminals Limited
• Chairman – Queensland Section and Director, 

Federation Board, Royal Flying Doctor Service of 
Australia

• Chairman – Tailored Superannuation Solutions
• Director – Data#3
• Director – Queensland Urban Utilities
• Director – genomiQa
• Director – Queensland Cricket

Jim Demack was appointed to the PMSA Board 
by the Uniting Church and believes strongly in 
giving back to the community that he is a part of. 
A lawyer and a Brisbane partner of a national law 
firm, Jim brings his legal skills with experience 
in major engineering and infrastructure projects, 
insurance, litigation and commercial law. He has 
a collaborative approach to problem solving in 
dealing with the issues that arise for the PMSA 
Board.

Key appointments, roles and qualifications include: 
• PMSA Board member (first appointed 2013, current 

term until 2021)
• Chair – Somerville House School Council
• Practising solicitor specialising in all aspects of 

construction law, particularly major engineering and 
infrastructure projects, insurance and litigation

• Partner – Gadens Lawyers
• Graduate – Australian Institute of Company Directors

JIM DEMACK   
LLB, LL.M, A.MUS.A, GAICD

Dr Bridget Cullen is a full-time member of the 
Administrative Appeals Tribunal and is a member 
of the Queensland Bar Association. She is also a 
nationally accredited mediator, with extensive 
alternative dispute resolution experience. Bridget 
is familiar with subcommittees of the PMSA and 
has served as both a member of the PMSA’s 
Policy Committee and the PMSA’s Nominations 
and Human Resources Committee. Bridget is 
an Adjunct Professor at the Griffith University 
Law School and is the Convenor of the Evidence 
subject. 

BRIDGET CULLEN
BA (magna cum laude); 

JD, LLB, MA, PhD, Grad Cert 
(Urb&Reg Plan

Key appointments, roles and qualifications include:
• PMSA Board member (first appointed July 2020, 

current term until 2023)
• Acting Chair – Brisbane Boys' College Council  

(appointed August 2020) 
• Member – Queensland Bar Association and New York 

State Bar Association
• National Accredited Mediator
• Accredited Family Dispute Resolution Practitioner
• Adjunct Professor – Griffith University Law School
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Appointed by the Presbyterian Church, Wayne 
Knapp has more than 20 years experience 
on not-for-profit boards including on the St 
Andrews War Memorial Hospital Board during a 
time of significant change. Wayne has extensive 
experience in governance, risk management and 
leadership on boards.  A former police officer 
retiring as an Inspector, Wayne is currently the CEO 
of Prescare.

WAYNE KNAPP    
PG Cert (Applied Mgt), PG Dip 

(Bus Admin), PG Cert  
(Bus Admin)

Key appointments, roles and qualifications include: 
• PMSA Board member (first appointed 2018, current 

term until 2021)
• Deputy Chair – PMSA 
• Member – Sunshine Coast Grammar School Council
• Chair – PMSA Policy Committee
• Retired police officer
• CEO – Prescare
• Chairman - Property Board, Presbyterian Church of 

Queensland 
• Member - Finance and Administration Board, 

Presbyterian Church of Queensland

Jane Madden is a partner with 
PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) and has more than 
30 years’ experience in Australia and overseas. Jane 
is passionate about education and has lectured in 
MBA programs and postgraduate programs at top 
Queensland universities. Jane has a keen interest 
and passion for PMSA schools and the Christian 
values and wonderful opportunities they provide 
to students and their families. Her daughters are 
past students at Somerville House.JANE MADDEN    

BCom, LLM, FICA

Key appointments, roles and qualifications include: 
• PMSA Board member (first appointed June 2020, 

current term until 2023)
• Chair – PMSA Audit, Finance and Risk Committee 

(appointed June 2020)
• Fellow – Institute of Chartered Accountants
• Partner – PricewaterhouseCoopers
• Advisor – WorkPac Board
• Chair – WorkPac’s Finance Committee
• Centenary Medal
• Previous Adjunct Professor – University of Queensland 

Law School
• Telstra Businesswoman of the Year (Queensland 

Corporate)
• Previous Board member of UnitingCare, BlueCare and 

Queensland Health Advisory Board
• Previous Chair of the UnitingCare Audit Committee – 

Community Services
• Previous member, BlueCare Audit Committee

Helen Murray is a Chief Information Officer 
and is passionate about providing high quality 
education in a Christian environment. Helen 
is inspired by the impact of technology upon 
the education environment and the role of 
digital disruption in ensuring the youth of today 
are ready for tomorrow. She is driven by the 
challenge of equity of access for rural and remote 
communities to technology and services available 
in the city. Helen has more than 30 years’ national 
and international experience in health, rural and 
remote service delivery, technology, government, 
program management and governance.

HELEN MURRAY
GRAD CERT IT, BNR, RN, MHN, 

MACN, MACMHN, GAICD

Key appointments, roles and qualifications include: 
• PMSA Board member (first appointed 2014, retired June 

2020)
• Member – Clayfield College Council (retired June 2020)
• Director – Clayfield College Foundation (retired June 

2020)
• Chief Information Officer, Queensland Health
• Graduate – Australian Institute of Company Directors
• Member – Institute of Community Directors Australia
• Member – Women in Technology
• Member – Women on Boards
• Winner, 2011 Women in IT Award | Professional
• Winner, 2014 Women in IT Award | Outstanding ICT 

Achievement
• 2014 Women in IT | ICT Ambassador
• Practising Registered Nurse
• Member – Australian College of Nursing
• Member  – Australian College of Mental Health Nursing

Morgan Parker’s association with PMSA schools 
spans more than three decades. He attended 
Brisbane Boys’ College, his sister attended 
Somerville House and his daughter is a current 
Somerville House student. Morgan’s passion for 
PMSA schools’ long-standing traditions and our 
role in shaping society’s future leaders is profound.  
Professionally, Morgan is a full-time non-executive 
director currently serving on five boards.  During 
his 25 year career in real estate investment 
banking and development, Morgan completing 65 
projects in nine countries totalling more than $20 
billion.  

MORGAN PARKER    
LLB, GAICD

Greg Skelton was appointed to the PMSA 
Board to support the mission and vision of the 
Presbyterian Church of Queensland through their 
ministry of education. With CEO experience, Greg 
brings leadership, financial and accounting skills, 
and strategic management skills to the PMSA 
Board.

GREG SKELTON     
B Bus (Accounting), MBA 

(Strategy), CPA, MAICD

Key appointments, roles and qualifications include: 
• Chair – PMSA (appointed March 2020)
• PMSA Board member (first appointed 2018, current 

term until 2021)
• Member – PMSA Audit, Finance and Risk Committee
• Chair – PMSA Nominations and Human Resources 

Committee
• Graduate – Australian Institute of Company Directors
• Board Member – SunCentral Maroochydore
• Board Member – Newcastle Airport
• Board Member – GARDA Capital Group
• Advisory Board Member – UbiPark

Key appointments, roles and qualifications include: 
• PMSA Board member (first appointed 2015, retired 

March 2020)
• Chair – PMSA Audit, Finance and Risk Committee 

(retired March 2020)
• Member – Australian Institute of Company Directors 
• Certified Practising Accountant
• Member – Finance & Administration Board of the 

Presbyterian Church of Queensland
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Each of the PMSA schools is run by a separate School Council which is a committee 
of the PMSA Board. Each School Council includes up to two PMSA Board members 
and up to five independent School Council members appointed from the school’s 
community. The school’s Principal is an ex-officio member and other school staff 
members including the school’s Business Manager attend meetings when required. 

 
During 2020, there were several new appointments to the School Councils. 

Sunshine Coast Grammar School Council past Chair Jennifer Radbourne was once again appointed to the SCGS 
Council in June 2020 after retiring in 2019, Chris Wright and Ken Watson were appointed in November 2019 and 
Council member Ken Watson was appointed Chair in June 2020. 

At Somerville House, Matthew Miller was appointed in November 2020. Hamish Turner OAM was appointed to the 
Brisbane Boys’ College Council in September 2020 and Paul Martin was appointed to the BBC Council in November 
2020. 

At Clayfield College, Dr Vicki Waters was appointed to the Council in July 2020, Sharon McAvoy was appointed in 
August, and Greg Eddy was appointed in November 2020. Clayfield College Council Acting Chair Sandra McCullagh 
was appointed as Chair in June 2020. 

Retirements from members of the School Councils during 2020 included Clayfield College Council member Robyn 
Kronenberg, Sunshine Coast Grammar School Chair John Glaister and Colleen Clur, John Down and Marion Tower 
from the Brisbane Boys’ College Council.

The PMSA Board would like to thank these School Council members for their time and commitment to the School 
Councils during their terms. 

2020 SCHOOL COUNCILS 
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BOARD MEMBER

BRISBANE BOYS' 
COLLEGE

CLAYFIELD COLLEGE SOMERVILLE HOUSE
SUNSHINE COAST 

GRAMMAR SCHOOL

Eligible Attended Eligible Attended Eligible Attended Eligible Attended

Greg Adsett

Peter Barker 

Margaret Berry 7 7

Greg Braithwaite

Bridget Cullen 4 4 4 4

Jim Demack 7 7

Greg Eddy 0 0

Con Graves 2 1

Mark Gray 6 5

Wayne Knapp 7 5

Jane Madden

Helen Murray 6 6

Morgan Parker

Greg Skelton

The following are the School Council members at the end of 2020. 

BRISBANE BOYS’ COLLEGE COUNCIL 
• Bridget Cullen BA (magna cum laude); JD, LLB, MA, PhD, Grad Cert 

(Urb&Reg Plan) (Acting Chair)

• Vaughan Henry BEc, BMaths, DFP

• Paul Martin MAICD, MACS, MAPM

• Hamish Turner OAM 

CLAYFIELD COLLEGE COUNCIL
• Sandra McCullagh MBA, BSc, BA, GAICD (Chair)

• Greg Eddy BA, DipEd, Med (Hons), FAICD, FAIM, MACE

• Sally Kift LLB (Hons), LLM, PFHEA, FAAL, GAICD

• Sharon McAvoy GAICD, FCPA, BBus(Acc), GradDipMan

• Michael Ryall CA, MProfAcc, BHotMgt, GDipAppFin, GAICD

• Dr Vicki Waters MSchM, Bed, DipT, HonDSc Macq, GAICD

SOMERVILLE HOUSE SCHOOL COUNCIL
• Jim Demack LLB, LLM, A MUS A, GAICD (Chair)

• Margaret Berry BA, MSc, MEd (Leadership), MAICD

• Matthew Miller AssocDip Bus (Real Estate Val), GradDip Urban  
& Reg Plan

• Allison Muller BA (Intl Rel), B Bus (Hons), M Bus (App Fin), GAICD

• Maribel Reyna-Cruz B Bus (Comm)

• Peter Thompson BA (Hons)  
• Fleur Wilkinson BA(Psych), CAHRI, GAICD

SUNSHINE COAST GRAMMAR SCHOOL COUNCIL 
• Ken Watson MA (Strat Studies), CSC, GAICD (Chair)

• John Hall BEc, BComm, MBA, FAICD

• Wayne Knapp PG Cert (Applied Mgt), PG Dip (Bus Admin), PG Cert (Bus 
Admin)

• Professor Emeritus Jennifer Radbourne CertTeach, ATCL, 

LSFA, BA, MA, PhD, GAICD

• Bruce Swan BBus, ICAA

• Chris Wright BSc Info Proc, BSc (Hons) Computer Science, CDE, GAICD, 

MACS

The following table shows PMSA Board members’ attendance at individual School Council meetings 
throughout 2020. 
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To assist the PMSA Group provide quality education services to achieve the PMSA 
vision, mission and values, four sub-committees provide specialist advice. In early 2020, 
the new Child Protection and Safeguarding Committee was established to provide 
specialist advice on the important area of child safety.

 
During 2020, 14 new governance members were 
appointed to PMSA committees: Jane Madden, Peter 
Barker and Geoffrey Brown were appointed to the 
Audit, Finance and Risk Committee; Rebecca Bauer, Jon 
Hottot, Commissioner Paula Spencer and Dr Christina 
Turner were appointed to the Nominations and 
Human Resources Committee; Phillip Brooks, Delvene 
Cockatoo-Collins, and Duku Forè were appointed to 
the Policy Committee. Previous committee member 
Bridget Cullen was also appointed to the Nominations 
and Human Resources Committee and the Policy 
Committee. 

AUDIT, FINANCE AND RISK COMMITTEE
The PMSA Audit, Finance and Risk Committee is 
responsible for fulfilling the PMSA’s responsibilities 
relating to the accounting and reporting practices  
and operating activities as well as financial and  
non-financial risk. 

This committee ensures the adequacy of the PMSA 
accounting, administrative, risk management and 
operating controls; works with external auditors and the 

internal auditors, School Councils, and School Business 
Managers to facilitate reporting and operational 
efficiency; and serves as an independent party to review 
the financial information presented by schools to  
the PMSA.

The majority of work undertaken by this committee 
in 2020 focussed on financial performance including 
implementing new reporting tools and financial KPIs, 
capital development projects including the SCGS Visual 
Arts development, auditing financial reports, policy 
review, Group purchasing delivering $1 million in Group 
savings and business plan reviews. 

With the added portfolio of ‘Risk’ to the committee 
name, this committee also oversaw the development 
and introduction of the PMSA’s new Risk Management 
Framework and risk appetite statements in 2020, the 
PMSA’s participation in the National Redress Scheme 
and supporting sustainable decision-making in 
response to the economic impact of COVID-19. 

2020 COMMITTEES 
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The following are the PMSA Audit, Finance and Risk 
Committee members at the end of 2020.

• Jane Madden BCom, LLM, FICA (Chair)

• Peter Barker BCom, MBA, FCPA, MAICD

• Geoffrey Brown BCom, MBA, CPA (Aust), 
• Jeff Harvie FCPA, MAICD, BBS

• Morgan Parker LLB, GAICD

• Edison Siregar BAcc (Hons), MIB, FCPA, ACMA, CGMA, CIA, CFE

CHILD PROTECTION AND SAFEGUARDING 
COMMITTEE 
The PMSA Child Protection and Safeguarding 
Committee is a new committee established in early 
2020. The primary objectives of this committee are to 
support the PMSA Board in overseeing child protection 
and Royal Commission response frameworks, manage 
related risk and promote our genuine commitment to 
contemporary practice and culture, extending beyond 
compliance requirements.

During 2020, the main focus of this committee was 
to establish key Committee members and define an 
appropriate Charter. The committee also worked with 
the PMSA Group Office Group Executive – Quality and 
Risk to participate in the National Redress Scheme for 
those who have experienced institutional child sexual 
abuse in the care of any of our PMSA schools, as well as 
our own PMSA Redress Office for those who may want 
to disclose concerns or make claims. 

The following are the PMSA Child Protection and 
Safeguarding Committee members at the end of 2020.

• Dr Vicki Waters MSchM, Bed, DipT, HonDSc Macq, GAICD  

(Acting Chair)

• Dr Jacoba Brasch BA, M PubAd, LLB (Hons), LLM, PhD

• Wayne Knapp PG Cert (Applied Mgt), PG Dip (Bus)

• Dr Richard Roylance BMedSc, NB, BS, FRACP

• Michael Pecic CF  

NOMINATIONS AND HUMAN RESOURCES 
COMMITTEE  
The PMSA Nominations and Human Resources 
Committee is responsible for the smooth continuity 
of operations of the affairs of the PMSA Board and to 
develop the employee relations strategy for the PMSA 
and our schools. 

This committee sources and recommends appropriate 
personnel for the various Board, School Council and 
Committee roles as well as advises the PMSA Board on 
matters of corporate governance policies, recruitment 
processes, and policies and practices in the areas of 
human resources and industrial relations. This committee 
also develops the appropriate contract terms and 
conditions and remuneration arrangements for staff.
The main focus of the Nominations and HR Committee 
during 2020 was the recruitment of the 22 new 
governance appointments made throughout the year. 
In addition, this committee assisted the Board make 
the key decisions regarding the Human Resources 
Information System (HRIS), the Enterprise Agreement 
and senior leadership remuneration.

The following are the PMSA Nomination and Human 
Resources Committee members at the end of 2020. 

• Morgan Parker LLB, GAICD (Chair)

• Rebecca Bauer BA (Econ)

• Jon Hottot BA, MAHRI, MIPAA

• Commissioner Paula Spencer BCom, BA (Psych), GradDip 

(IndRel), LLB

• Dr Christina Turner PhD, MBCoaching, MAppLaw, GAICD, FAIM, 

FAHRI 

POLICY COMMITTEE  
The PMSA Policy Committee is a new committee 
established in early 2019. The primary objective of this 
committee is to oversee the establishment and ongoing 
monitoring of the overarching policy framework for the 
PMSA and our schools. 

This committee ensures the overall monitoring, creation, 
storage, implementation and compliance of documents 
within PMSA’s policy framework. It reflects the Group’s 
focus on improving governance in managing and 
monitoring the overarching policy framework for the 
Group. 

In 2020, the new Policy Committee spent considerable 
time focussing on developing a policy management 
system and the first PMSA Policy Management 
Framework – a key document which uplifts practice and 
demonstrates PMSA’s implementation of best practice 
governance and management practices. 
 
This committee also worked to approve a range of 
critical policies including the Whistleblower Policy 
and Code of Conduct. The committee also updated 
previous policies as well as introduced PMSA 
strategic positioning policies that demonstrate our 
Christian leadership and commitment to social and 
environmental issues that greatly impact our world, our 
country and our community.
 
These policies cover the areas of Christian Faith, 
Stakeholders, Environmental Sustainability, Indigenous 
People, Equality, Diversity and Inclusivity, Respectful 
Relationships, Preventing Modern Slavery, Child 
Safeguarding, and Good Governance. 
 
The PMSA’s first Welcome and Acknowledgement of 
Country Standard was developed as a part of this range 
of strategic positioning policies.
 
The following are the PMSA Policy Committee members 
at the end of 2020. 

• Chris Veraa EMBA, BComn, GAICD (Chair)

• Phillip Brooks GCM, FIML, MAICD

• Delvene Cockatoo-Collins BA 

• Duku Forè GAICD 
• Don Jameson FCA; CPA; MBA (AGSM)

• Wayne Knapp PG Cert (Applied Mgt), PG Dip (Bus Admin), PG Cert (Bus 
Admin)
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ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE

The organisational chart below provides an overview of the structure of the PMSA and our relationship with our  
four schools.

BOARD MEMBER

PMSA  
BOARD

AUDIT, FINANCE  
& RISK 

COMMITTEE

CHILD 
PROTECTION & 

SAFEGUARDING 
COMMITTEE

NOMINATIONS 
& HUMAN 

RESOURCES 
COMMITTEE

POLICY  
COMMITTEE

Eligible Attended Eligible Attended Eligible Attended Eligible Attended Eligible Attended

Greg Adsett
(retired 20 March 2020) 3 3 1 1 1 1

Peter Barker
(appointed 15 June 2020) 5 5 4 4

Margaret Berry 10 10

Greg Braithwaite
(retired 31 March 2020) 3 0

Bridget Cullen
(appointed 6 July 2020) 2 2 1 1 1 1

Jim Demack 10 10

Greg Eddy
(appointed 16 November 
2020)

0 0

Con Graves
(retired 23 March 2020) 3 2 1 0

Mark Gray
(retired 3 August 2020) 6 5

Wayne Knapp 10 10 1 0 3 3 4 2

Jane Madden
(appointed 15 June 2020) 5 5 4 4

Helen Murray
(retired 30 June 2020) 5 2

Morgan Parker 10 10 5 5 7 7

Greg Skelton
(retired 27 March 2020) 2 1 1 1

PMSA BOARD

Audit, Finance & Risk Committee

Child Protection & Safeguarding  
Committee

Nominations & Human Resources  
Committee

Policy Committee

Sharon Callister,  
Group Chief Executive Officer

Group Executive Team

SCHOOL STAFF BUSINESS MANAGERS SCHOOL CHAPLAINS

Paul Brown, Brisbane Boys' College

Dr Andrew Cousins, Clayfield College

Kim Kiepe, Somerville Hose

Maria Woods, Sunshine Coast Grammar School

SCHOOL COUNCILS

Brisbane Boys' College

Clayfield College

Somerville House

Sunshine Coast Grammar School

SCHOOL PRINCIPALS

PMSA CORPORATE OFFICEPMSA COMMITTEES

The following table shows PMSA Board members’ attendance at PMSA Board and Committee meetings 
throughout 2020. 



23PMSA 2020 ANNUAL REPORT

PMSA’S INNOVATIVE ENTERPRISE 
AGREEMENT 

Employing more than 1000 staff across four schools, 
the PMSA’s Enterprise Agreement (EA) is an important 
milestone for the organisation as well as for staff. Now 
with internal expertise at hand in the PMSA Group 
Office, this negotiation was a unique opportunity  
to develop an innovative and effective EA that  
suited everyone. 

And for the latest agreement, what has resulted is one 
of the most contemporary agreements in the education 
industry that works for both the workforce and  
the employer. 

With the previous agreement due for renewal by 2021, 
the PMSA Group Office executive took a consultative 
approach, listening to and working with both staff 
representatives and the unions. 

PMSA Group Chief Executive Officer Sharon Callister 
said the Group Office led the EA negotiations.

“Our Group Office executives have an in-depth 
knowledge and understanding of the PMSA Group staff, 
with PMSA Group Office staff meeting regularly with all 
stakeholders – school Principals, staff representatives 
and the unions – to listen to and understand any 
concerns and resolve operational issues,” Mrs  
Callister said.

“Unresolved issues from the previous agreement 
haunted the last EA,” she said. 

“2020 was a difficult year for all staff with the pandemic. 
The Board were very keen to ensure the frontline staff 
were well looked after because of COVID and this was 
reflected in the EA. They understand that when they 
invest well in teachers, this correlates to outstanding 
student outcomes. 

“The Board is keen for the PMSA to remain an ‘Employer 
of Choice’ in independent education and have taken 
a number of steps to be innovative in the latest 
agreement,” she said. 

In addition to overhauling the agreement to make it 
easier to understand, clearer and more contemporary, 
the new PMSA Enterprise Agreement is also not as 
prescriptive and provides staff more certainty. 

“It has created a volunteer opt-in clause which allows 
staff to take on a range of extra duties such as yard duty, 
bus duty or roll call. This allows teachers to have more 

time to teach and give Principals the opportunity to be 
more flexible to determine how best to use professional 
resources,” Mrs Callister said.

To help the Group remain an Employer of Choice and 
attract high quality staff, the PMSA has also embedded 
in the agreement the Australian Professional Standards 
for Principals leadership program for senior and middle 
leaders. 

Mrs Callister said the PMSA has invested in a Future 
Leaders Program and uses the innovative leadership 
framework to better train and reward emerging leaders. 

This new program will be up and running in 2021 and 
staff can apply if they satisfy certain criteria. 

Other innovative changes to the new agreement 
include for the first time several innovations including a 
description of what middle leaders do, paid domestic 
and family violence leave and enhanced provisions to 
give schools the ability to be more collaborative and 
consultative in developing comprehensive business case 
for staff.  

With a resounding ‘yes’ vote of more than 85 per cent in 
late 2020, this new PMSA Enterprise Agreement is likely 
to be approved by the Fair Work Commission in early 
2021 and take effect from July 2021. 

Coupled with the PMSA’s implementation of Group-
wide HR information system (HRIS) over the next two 
years that is a first-of-its-kind in the education industry, 
this new agreement will create an unprecedented level 
of sophistication in the PMSA’s workforce relations as we 
strive to remain an Employer of Choice.

FOCUS
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The PMSA Group comprises four outstanding Queensland schools – Brisbane Boys’ 
College, Clayfield College, Somerville House and Sunshine Coast Grammar School. 
Each PMSA school is unique and individual, but shares with each other collective 
PMSA values as well as their knowledge and expertise to enhance the educational 
experience across all schools.  

CHRISTIAN EDUCATION
Christian Education is an integral part of education 
at PMSA schools. COVID-19 presented interesting 
challenges for our schools’ Christian education 
programs in 2020. But pleasingly, all schools reported 
an increase in participation and engagement. 

At all schools, Christian Education lessons continued 
via online platforms during the lockdown period, which 
maintained regular engagement with students and 
made some connections with faith in the home. Schools 
also made the transition to recorded and streamed 
messages for assemblies and Chapels if necessary. 

Unfortunately, due to COVID-19, the regular three 
combined schools ISCF events were reduced with only 
two occurring throughout the year.

During 2020, PMSA school Chaplains also increased 
their collaboration with each other and the PMSA 
Board, working together to drive a project to re-evaluate 
the PMSA Values, which will be launched in 2021. 

At Brisbane Boys’ College, Christian faith continued 
to remain at the heart of the College culture with 
regular Christian Education lessons and Chapel services. 
When able throughout the year, students continued 
to participate in community and charitable service 
initiatives including the Salvo’s Camp Out and donating 
Christmas gifts to the Wesley Mission. The College Care 
and Concern group supported by parents provided 
meals for families in need.

At Clayfield College, during the COVID lockdown, 
students prepared elements for weekly video chapel 
services for both the Primary and Secondary school.  
Christian Education lessons were conducted via Teams, 
and this maintained regular engagement with students 
and made some connections with faith in the home. 

At Somerville House, Somerville’s ‘Somercircle’ grew 
despite the impact of the Coronavirus. Somerville House 
also developed a partnership with two city churches 
and special links with the youth leaders/minister were 
established and boarders visited for Chapel services.

THE PMSA SCHOOLS
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At Sunshine Coast Grammar School, Chapel services 
and Chapel lessons continued throughout the 
lockdown period with Zoom services and prayer 
meetings for families and staff continued for the 
majority of the year. In 2020, the school created 225 
boxes for the Operation Christmas Shoebox Appeal. 

PASTORAL CARE
Pastoral care at our PMSA schools continues to be a 
key education component which also complements 
our Christian Education, academic and co-
curricular programs. Each school develops their own 
comprehensive pastoral care program to recognise 
the needs of each individual student and create 
opportunities for social, emotional, spiritual, physical, 
cultural and academic growth. Each program focusses 
on age-appropriate learning to develop positive 
purpose, emotions, relationships, engagement, self-
esteem, achievements, resilience, academic buoyance 
and optimism in students. 

For the past three years, Brisbane Boys’ College 
has deployed the Australian Council for Educational 
Research (ACER) Social Emotional Wellbeing survey for 
students in Years 3-12 to measure student social and 
emotional growth. Results from this survey enable the 
College to identify the social and emotional needs of 
student groups, target resourcing to specific areas of 
need, measure the effectiveness of programs with pre- 
and post-surveys, and report on wellbeing to parents 
and the College community. 

The College’s whole school positive education program 
‘ASPIRE’, which commenced in 2019, show positive 
trends in the 2020 ACER survey.

Pastoral care at Clayfield College in 2020 underwent 
significant changes despite the year being disrupted by 

the COVID-19 pandemic. Having identified a number of 
key focal areas, the most important being online safety, 
respectful relationships and wellness, the pastoral care 
team, worked with external expert providers to enhance 
the programs offered in these areas. 
 
Throughout Semester 2 of 2020, the Heads of House 
and Deputy Principal worked collaboratively to develop 
a new wellbeing framework ‘Care@Clayfield’. 

At Somerville House, the 2020 pastoral care theme of 
EMBRACE to connect and belong saw many initiatives 
implemented including Sisters Connect with students 
across year levels working together. The crossing of the 
Oval transition event involving Year 6 students and  
Year 11 big sisters was a great new initiative introduced  
in 2020. 

Other examples of new initiatives included the 
development of the Wellbeing@HOME program which 
included Pulse Checks for students and teachers 
and the adoption of a wellbeing measurement tool 
developed by Melbourne University: The Wellbeing 
Profiler. 

At Sunshine Coast Grammar School, key 2020 
pastoral care initiatives and achievements included 
continuing the highly-successful Grammar Helping 
Hands initiatives such as the Annual Beach Clean 
up; developing equipment and care packages for 
Team Adem, Wishlist and BloomHill Cancer Care; and 
developing school resources for schools in Timor Leste. 
The primary school also implemented key initiatives 
such as koala habitat funding and a War on Waste 
initiative. 
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STAFF 2020 2019

Brisbane Boys' College

 − Teaching professionals (full-time equivalent) 138 (127.7) 141 (131.2)

 − Non-teaching staff (full-time equivalent) 111 (91.1) 109 (88.2)

 − Total number of staff 249 250

Clayfield College 

 − Teaching professionals (full-time equivalent) 60 (53.2) 67 (63.2)

 − Non-teaching staff (full-time equivalent) 37 (29.5) 40 (34.1)

 − Total number of staff 97 107

Somerville House 

 − Teaching professionals (full-time equivalent) 125 (117.4) 119 (111.1)

 − Non-teaching staff (full-time equivalent) 88 (78.6) 100 (93.8)

 − Total number of staff 213 219

Sunshine Coast Grammar School 

 − Teaching professionals (full-time equivalent) 105 (99.7) 102 (98.2)

 − Non-teaching staff (full-time equivalent) 80 (64.2) 85 (65.7)

 − Total number of staff 185 187

PMSA Group Office

 − Executives 6 (5.9) 4

 − Administrative (full-time equivalent) 5 (4.9) 3 (2)

 − Total number of staff 11 7

TOTAL STAFF 755 770

STAFF
In 2020, the PMSA employed more than 1000 full-time, part-time and casual staff made up of both permanent and 
contract positions working in the four PMSA schools and the PMSA Group Office. 

Together with the School Councils, the PMSA recruits and appoints school Principals and Chaplains while other 
school staff appointments are managed by the school Principal and overseen by each School Council. All school 
staff are employees of the PMSA.

During 2020, the PMSA successfully worked together with the school staff to collaboratively negotiate a new 
Enterprise Agreement to come into effect in 2021. 

The following staff numbers were declared through the Non-Government Schools Census which is held on the first 
Friday in August of each year. Non-teaching staff include managerial, administration, maintenance, and boarding 
positions. 

These figures do not include casual staff which comprise many sporting, boarding and other non-teaching staff and 
the many volunteers who work on the Board, School Councils, Committees and within our school communities.

SCHOOL PRINCIPAL CHAPLAIN

Brisbane Boys' College Paul Brown Stephen Ward

Clayfield College Dr Andrew Cousins Reverend Paul Yarrow

Somerville House Kim Kiepe Pastor Christine O'Gorman

Sunshine Coast Grammar School Maria Woods Pastor Jon Taylor

Below is the Principal and Chaplain at each PMSA school in 2020. At the beginning of 2020, Dr Andrew Cousins 
commenced as the seventh Principal of Clayfield College. Brisbane Boys’ College also warmly welcomed new 
Chaplain Stephen Ward at the beginning of 2020. 
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TOTAL STAFF

755

At all of our schools, the staff are to be commended and congratulated for their ability to quickly adapt to an online 
learning platform during the COVID-19 lockdown period in May and June 2020. 

Schools reported outstanding levels of engagement from students which maintained their learning. 2020 
academic results are a testament to their efforts. 

In addition to adapting to remote learning, senior school staff were also introducing new subjects and preparing for 
the first Year 12 graduates through the new ATAR and external assessment which was a complex change program. 
We also congratulate the many teachers at our schools who successfully applied to become Highly Accomplished 
Teachers (HAT) or LEAD Teachers in 2020. 

In 2021, we are pleased to engage with Independent Schools Queensland to support staff through the new National 
Accreditation process.
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ENROLMENTS 2020 2019

Brisbane Boys' College (Boys Prep - 12) 1,441 1,484

Clayfield College (Girls Pre-Prep - 12; and boys Prep - 6) 484 516

Somerville House (Girls Pre-Prep - 12) 1,316 1,243

Sunshine Coast Grammar School (Co-educational Prep - 12) 1,311 1,271

TOTAL ENROLMENTS 4,552 4,514

ENROLMENTS
Total student enrolments across all four PMSA schools was 4552 in 2020, which was 0.8 per cent increase from 2019, 
and more than double the independent school market share increase of 0.3 per cent (Source: Independent Schools 
Queensland). 

According to the Independent School Queensland 2020 Commonwealth Census, the 2020 market share of 
independent schools across Queensland compared with State and Catholic schools increased to the highest level 
ever at 15.2 per cent of total Queensland enrolments. 

COVID-19 saw significant interstate migration to Queensland, particularly in coastal areas. As a result, Sunshine Coast 
Grammar School experienced substantial growth in new enrolments. While Brisbane schools gained enrolments 
from southern states and due to the quality of their home learning programs, net enrolments remained relatively 
steady as some losses were incurred due to families’ financial hardship. 

To assist affected families during the difficulties of COVID-19, our schools offered a range of options including 
discounts, new bursary programs and flexible payment plans.

The following 2020 enrolment numbers were declared through the Non-Government Schools Census which is held 
on the first Friday in August of each year. 

In addition to these Census numbers, students are enrolled in co-educational Pre-Prep programs at Clayfield 
College and Somerville House. Children from six weeks of age are also enrolled in an approved long day care  
service called Grammar Early Learning Centre at Sunshine Coast Grammar School. 

TOTAL STUDENTS

4552
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SCHOOL Brisbane Boys’ 
College Clayfield College Somerville House Sunshine Coast 

Grammar School

ATAR 99 and above 10% 3.7% 7.9% 9%

ATAR 95 and above 25% 29.6% 32.3% 35%

ATAR 90 and above 45% 44.4% 55.9% 50%

Median ATAR 88.3 87.2 91.2 90.6

4552

All of our PMSA schools are proud to provide students 
with an outstanding academic education in the context 
of strong Christian values that will guide students 
throughout their lives. The goal at all of our PMSA 
schools is for every graduating Year 12 student to be 
working or studying towards a future career that values 
their talents.

In addition to ATAR results, many of our schools provide 
additional vocational pathways including vocational 
education and training (VET) qualifications and school-
based apprenticeship or traineeship (SAT). At Clayfield 
College, 20 per cent of students studied a School-Based 
Traineeship/Apprenticeship including diploma and 
certificate qualifications. 

At Sunshine Coast Grammar School, 42 per cent 
of students studied a School-Based Traineeship/
Apprenticeship including diploma and certificate 
qualifications. 

SPORT AND CO-CURRICULAR
Sport and co-curricular activities particularly in music, 
cultural and community activities are a major part of 
student life at our PMSA schools. Athough COVID-19 
restricted some activities and competitions, students 
were able to participate extensively, despite restrictions. 

At Brisbane Boys’ College, 2020 sporting highlights 
include GPS Premiership wins in Cricket, Rugby, and 
Tennis. Runner up positions were achieved in GPS 
Track and Field and GPS Cross Country. Top five overall 
positions were achieved in Chess, Debating, Volleyball, 
Swimming (10-12 years) and Gymnastics. 

In co-curricular activities, two BBC teams were 
selected to represent Australia at the cancelled World 
Robotics Championships in France. Opti-minds STEM 
participants at BBC achieved great success winning 
first place while Social Science participants gained 

second place in regional competition. BBC students 
also participated in the Australasian Ocean Plastics 
Competition and STAQ Awards.

Performance music at Brisbane Boys’ College recorded 
most concerts during 2020. The musical theatre 
production of Grease, however, was postponed due to 
COVID-19. Expressive Arts were able to produce their 
end of year show Charlie and the Chocolate Factory, 
which was livestreamed to families. 

Clayfield College students were able to embrace the 
majority of their sporting and co-curricular program 
through 2020 with only the QGSSSA Cross Country 
cancelled. Other sports were declared ‘non-pennant’ 
meaning there wasn’t an opportunity for a premiership. 

Clayfield College began the year positively winning the 
Percentage Cup in both the Andrews Cup Swimming 
and the QGSSSA Swimming. A number of outstanding 
individual achievements in both the primary and 
secondary school contributed to the College’s success. 

In music, a large number of Clayfield College music 
students were selected for the State Honours Ensemble 
Programs in 2020. Other music students were selected 
for the Queensland Youth Orchestra and the Young 
Conservatorium. 

Significant Somerville House sporting achievements in 
2020 included Andrew's Cup Tennis champions A grade 
and Year 4 division, Knowles Cup Tennis Champions in 
Juniors and Opens and podium finishes for all Open 
Netball divisions - Open third place, Senior A second 
place and Senior B first place. 

In Rowing, Somerville House competed successfully in a 
reduced racing season and had podium finishes for 11 of 
14 crews at Head of the River, including three wins and 
taking the Year 9 pennant.

ACADEMIC
The Year 12 class of 2020 was the first to graduate under the new Senior Assessment and Tertiary Entrance (SATE) 
system incorporating the Queensland Certificate of Education (QCE) and Australian Tertiary Admission Rank (ATAR). 
Despite the disruptions to the year, Year 12 students from our PMSA schools achieved outstanding results with five 
students out of a possible 30 students across the state achieving a perfect ATAR of 99.95. 

The following table highlights the achievements of each school’s cohort from those who have consented to publicly 
share their ATAR results with the school:
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Co-curricular music at Somerville featured a flexible  
@HomeProgram that provided a wide variety of 
program activities to more than 500 students. The 
highly successful Immersion Programs (Year 3 Strings & 
Year 5 Band/Guitar) had more than 50% continuation 
rate and a large number of Somerville students were 
selected for the State Honours Ensemble Programs in 
2020.
 
In other co-curricular activities, chess adapted to an 
online environment allowing training to continue 
throughout 2020. In tournaments, the Somerville 
Junior School team finished third in the Queensland 
Girls Interschool State Finals. In Debating, Somerville 
used technology to engage in an internal Debating 
competition during the COVID-19 restrictions. Two 
students won the Grand Final of the BGDA Online Case 
Competition.

At Sunshine Coast Grammar School, 2020 saw 
a number of outstanding individual and team 
achievements including the secondary Swimming 
team winning the Independent District Secondary 
competition, the Grammar Pool Lifesaving team 
crowned 2020 National Club Champions, the 

Intermediate Girls Cricket crowned regional champions, 
and Primary Girls Cricket awarded district champions. 
Grammar also won all divisions in the boys SCSSRU 
competition. 

At Grammar in 2020, more than 300 students across 
the Primary and Secondary school represented either or 
both the school, district, region, or State in a year when 
so much sport was cancelled due to COVID-19. 

Co-curricular activities in 2020 also continued 
despite COVID restrictions. All music ensembles and 
co-curricular lessons continued in 2020 through 
a combination of face-to-face, online, and videos. 
Students’ hard work culminated in the video of Music 
Gala 2020. Grammar music students were selected 
for the State Honours Ensemble Program and one 
Year 12 student was chosen for the Australian Honours 
Ensemble Program.

Chess students competed in local and online 
competitions and Grammar’s own Debating Coordinator 
facilitated a Sunshine Coast ZOOM interschool debating 
competition for senior debating students where 
Grammar were the inaugural Runners Up.
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FOCUS
TEACHER EDUCATION SCHOLARSHIP RECIPIENT TRULY CONNECTS  

For Brooke Hayes – 2016 PMSA Teacher Education 
Scholarship recipient, Clayfield College Old Collegian, 
and now primary school teacher – her teaching and life 
journey so far has been a series of wonderful connections.

Whether it’s been staying connected with her old school 
Clayfield College, making special connections with her 
students, or continuing to develop her relationship with 
God, Brooke says the scholarship has helped her pursue 
her dream of becoming a primary school teacher and 
gain a truly enriching experience during her studies. 

“The scholarship allowed me to have the benefits of 
studying full-time to alleviate any financial pressure – I 
was able to buy my first laptop and the textbooks I 
needed for my degree,” Brooke said.  

“It also allowed me to take on opportunities to travel, to 
volunteer in South-East Asia and also to fund a practicum 
experience in the Solomon Islands. 

“The Solomon Islands teaching experience is one that is 
very special to me – it was very different but a completely 
humbling experience,” Brooke said.

In the Solomon Islands, Brooke took her Year 2 class 
through a project where students created the life cycle of 
a butterfly. 

“We created paper mâché cocoons and were able to 
combine our cultures as some students lived near big 
banana trees and they bought in some banana leaves to 
create the caterpillars. 

“It is memories like these where connections are formed 
between the teacher and students that makes me really 
cherish the position that I have today,” she said.  

Graduating from Clayfield College in 2015, Brooke studied 
teaching at Australian Catholic University (ACU).

Now 22, Brooke is thoroughly enjoying her first teaching 
post in a Year 2 class at St Dympna's Primary School  
in Aspley. 

Reflecting on her own education in a PMSA school at 
Clayfield College, Brooke said she valued the connections 
that she was able to make – both with the girls and also 
the teachers and wider community. 

“We hear a lot about Clayfield being small in number but 
big with heart and I believe this is true,” Brooke said.

Brooke says she was inspired by a lot of her Clayfield 
teachers but no more so than Tina Mills (Freestone). 

“Ms Mills inspired me to continue with my passion, 
she guided be through subject selection, university 
application and even assisting with my interview prep for 
a teaching position. She had a deep impact on me and 
one that I value even when we talk today.”

Brooke was also lucky enough to spend some time in 
Clayfield College primary teacher Vivienne Corness’s 
classroom during her studies. 

“Vivienne has a calm and welcoming presence in the 
classroom. Whilst I spent some time in her classroom, I 
was able to reflect on my own way of teaching to mirror 
this into my own classroom to create a space of warmth 
and welcoming to all who entered the door.”

Brooke says one of the wonderful elements that the 
PMSA fosters in the schools is the sense of community, 
particularly in a small school of Clayfield College. 

“Each school is open to everyone’s abilities and that truly 
highlights the core of the Christian values.”  

And like all PMSA schools, Clayfield has a strong focus on 
community service. 

“There was always a charity drive being conducted or 
various dress-up days to raise money for charities. These 
allowed us to live out not only the ethos of the school 
but what it means to be Christian and follow in God’s 
message,” Brooke said. 

“This has continued with me through my volunteer work 
and active involvement in the community.”  
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BRISBANE BOYS' COLLEGE
When reflecting upon the 2020 school year, we have been impressed by the 
achievements of students, the generosity of spirit among boys and staff, and the 
deep wellspring of goodness that exists within the College community, especially 
considering the unique circumstances we encountered. Despite the challenges of 
COVID-19, 2020 was a most successful year for the College as we continue to fulfill our 
mission of providing an outstanding holistic education within a caring,  
Christian community.  

Across all key areas of operation, we saw continued 
improvement. The College enhanced its teaching and 
learning program, improved its academic results and 
our co-curricular programs in sport and the creative 
and performing arts continued to thrive despite the 
constraints relating to COVID. 

Our positive education program places the wellbeing 
and happiness of each boy at the centre of our decision 
making. This whole-school approach is designed to 
develop and reveal a boy’s ability to engage effectively 
with their character strengths in order to build and 
foster positive relationships, manage their emotions, 
prioritise their health, develop an altruistic outlook, 
excel intellectually and lead a purposeful life. The Aspire 
Framework and the introduction of a new year-based 
model of wellbeing, stood us in good stead to face the 
challenges of 2020.

The Year 12 class of 2020 was the first to graduate under 
the new SATE system incorporating the Queensland 
Certificate of Education (QCE) and ATAR and achieved 
strong results. 

The College had one of its most successful years in 
sport including GPS Premierships in Cricket, Tennis and 
Rugby. The First XV rugby team celebrated the College’s 
first ever undefeated GPS season. Runner up positions 
were achieved in GPS Track and Field and GPS Cross 
Country. Top five overall positions were achieved in 
Chess, Debating, Volleyball, Swimming (10-12 years) and 
Gymnastics.                 

Music competitions were held throughout the year 
including the Concerto, and Middle and Senior School 
solo competitions. The Music Showcase, Grand Concert, 
Indie Rock Concert and Junior School concerts were 
recorded for online viewing and highlighted the 
passion, talent and commitment of students and staff. 
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A performance of ‘Sounds of Scotland’ was recorded 
by the pipe band and individual students achieved 
exceptional success at the ‘Online’ Piping & Drumming 
World Championships. 

The inaugural NASA excursion to the United States of 
America, Antipodeans trip to Nepal, the skiing trip to 
New Zealand, and local initiatives such as the Red Earth 
Indigenous Immersion to Cape York were postponed 
or cancelled.  Two BBC teams selected to represent 
Australia at the World Robotics Championships in 
France, were also unable to compete. Service activities 
did proceed in new and creative ways including the Red 
Shield Appeal, the 40 Hour famine, House charities, the 
Inter-School Christian Fellowship, Amnesty and RUOK.   

The College has accomplished many of the goals set 
in the ‘Strategic Direction 2019-2021’ and is on the 
way to meeting remaining goals. Our strategic plan is 
aspirational, and our calling compels us to strive for the 
‘more’ every day so as to benefit our students, assist them 
in their personal development, inspire their creativity and 
enhance their skills, knowledge and understanding. 

At BBC, we believe an education should allow students 
to develop convictions, to understand ethics, to ask 
challenging questions. Our society benefits from people 
who are both robust and compassionate, who are not 
afraid of life or of other people. An education helps 
students work out both what they want to do and 
who they want to be. If we continue to focus on this 
fundamental aspect of education, then we can continue 
to provide each boy with the confidence to graduate 
from the College ready to face the challenges of the 
world and to lead lives of meaning and purpose.  

Paul Brown 
BA, MA (Merit), Cert HRM (MGSM), MACEL, MAHRI

HEADMASTER

Dr Bridget Cullen  
BA (magna cum laude); JD, LLB, MA, PhD,  
Grad Cert (Urb&Reg Plan)

BRISBANE BOYS’ COLLEGE  
COUNCIL ACTING CHAIR
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CLAYFIELD COLLEGE 
In 2020 Clayfield College has ignited passion, created opportunity and nurtured 
connection. Through our focus on learning, innovation and support, we have provided 
a dynamic learning environment to facilitate the delivery of an outstanding education 
for girls and young boys.

 
Our College Captains Georgia Lennon and Sophia Kelly 
captured this drive for personal excellence through their 
2020 leadership vision which encouraged every Clayfield 
student to ‘UnLOC their purpose’.  This vision provided a 
wonderful platform to successfully overcome the unique 
challenges 2020 presented and use each of them as 
a wonderful opportunity for learning by reflecting and 
drawing on the Christian values which underpin all 
aspects of College life.  

Our goal at Clayfield College is to instil in every student 
a ‘have a go’ attitude, which encourages them take risks, 
learn from their mistakes and understand themselves as 
a learner.  This goal is achieved through an educational 
environment where every student is known, valued 
and understood.  This personalised approach enables 
all student to unlock their talents as they develop the 
necessary skills to successfully navigate the curriculum, 
school and life.    

We are incredibly proud of both the personal and cohort 
success the class of 2020 achieved.  Within the cohort 
there were students who achieved 100% in the external 

exams for Japanese, Chinese and English, 65% of 
students who achieved an ATAR over 80 with a top ATAR 
of 99.65, five student who achieved an A Grade for all six 
subjects studied and as a cohort achieved significant 
results in subjects such as Chemistry where 40% of the 
students achieved an overall result greater than 90% 
or Music Extension where 100% of students achieved a 
results greater than 90%.  94% of students received their 
first preference for university entry including students 
who received scholarships to Bond University and 
Sydney University.  

We recognise that a key aspect of attaining these 
academic results is to ensure that all students ‘feel 
good’ and ‘function well’.  Providing the best conditions 
for student learning has been a key driver in the 
development of the Care@Clayfield framework.  This 
framework provides a student wellbeing framework 
which is developmentally appropriate, integrates a 
vertical and horizontal approach to student care and is 
underpinned by the four dimensions of health, safety, 
relationships and purpose. The development of this 
framework was supported by the Clayfield College 
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Foundation through their opportunities of excellence 
initiative.  The College Foundation, along with the P&F 
and Old Collegians’ Association, also supported the 
refresh of the Assembly Hall with seating replaced, air-
conditioning added and AV equipment upgraded.   

In addition, during 2020 Clayfield Connect was 
launched to facilitate remote learning, parent teacher 
interviews moved online, the College successfully 
became a candidate school for the International 
Baccalaureate Primary Years Programme (PYP), we won 
the swimming percentage cup for the QGSSSA and 
Andrews Cup carnivals and we hosted the inaugural 
Clayfield College TED ED Student Talks Event.  

During the year there were a number of opportunities 
for stakeholder engagement.  This engagement 
included the MMG Review in years 6, 9 and 12, the ISQ 
School Improvement Review for the whole school and 
a series of Senior Leadership Team coffee conversation 
and ZOOM catch ups.  In addition, all members of the 
Senior Leadership underwent a 3600 review to support 
their growth and development. This information 
has provided an invaluable starting point for the 
development of the next Strategic Plan for Clayfield 
College.  In the MMG data parents noted ‘very high’ 
scores for 7 of the 12 benchmarked areas, ‘high’ scores 

for 4 areas and a ‘moderate’ score for the remaining 
area with an overall score of ‘very high’ (80%).  It also 
demonstrated growth against key bench marks when 
compared to the previous review.  What this stakeholder 
feedback outlined was that parents value the dedicated 
and caring teaching staff, the quality of staff and the 
sense of community.  This information was also used to 
underpin the development of the 2021 Business Plan 
and was instrumental in the formation of the Building 
Clayfield Committee to support the Clayfield College 
Council in the review of the existing Master Plan. 

This reflection about 2020 reinforces that at Clayfield 
College we have so much to be grateful for, so many 
things that inspire and so many successes to share.  As 
we look towards 2021 and beyond it is such an exciting 
time at the College as we embark on the development 
of the next strategic plan which will provide the 
roadmap for the next 5 years.  

Dr Andrew Cousins  
PhD, BMus, BSc, PGradDipEd, AMusA(Piano), GAICD,  
MACE, MACEL

PRINCIPAL

Sandra McCullagh 
BSc, BA, MBA, GAICD

CLAYFIELD COLLEGE COUNCIL CHAIR
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SOMERVILLE HOUSE
Somerville House celebrated a successful and eventful 2020, despite the effects of a 
global pandemic. Staff maintained a steadfast commitment to our purpose to provide 
an exemplary educational environment by supporting each student's personal growth. 

 
Through a Somerville House education, our young 
women value courage, compassion, inclusion, gratitude, 
integrity and respect. These values align with the 
Christian values of the PMSA: relationships, care, ethics, 
personal development, excellence and celebration, and 
we strive to live by them each day. 

We sustained strong enrolments of 1385 girls and young 
women from Prep to Year 12, with boys welcomed to the 
Early Learning Centre. Boarding enrolments remained 
stable throughout 2020. We were able to provide an 
education for international boarders who were unable 
to return to the South Brisbane campus via our remote 
learning curriculum. 

With outstanding facilities for music, performing arts, 
cultural pursuits and sport, our students enjoyed a 
wide array of co-curricular offerings that enriched the 
academic curriculum. 

Education during the pandemic was an altered 
experience for both the learner and educator, with 
COVID-19 proving to be a positive catalyst for change. 
A significant initiative, Somerville@HOME was 
implemented for the remote learning period, enabling 
parents to join their daughter/s in the virtual classroom 
for the synchronous style of teaching and learning. 

Teachers changed their pedagogical approach on the 
fly, quickly learning that the asynchronous style of 
communication via emails, text message and video was 
the best way to disseminate basic instruction or launch 
a discussion and set relevant deadlines. 

Sport, music and drama continued to thrive, developing 
cultural, intellectual and character strengths in 
contribution to the holistic development of our girls 
and young women. This breadth of offerings meant 
that Somerville House was able to continue promoting 
excellence and personal growth through the diverse 
educational experiences that support all students. 
Several activities and key developments advanced 
the strategic goals while adding value to the student 
experience. 

These initiatives included: 
• Implementation of our Strategic Intent 2020-2023 
• The new structure for the School Leadership Team 
• Establishment of a COVID-19 fund, through the 

combined efforts of the Foundation, the Old Girls' 
Association and the School, providing assistance to 
sixty-five students 

• The introduction of the SomerLink communications 
and learning management platform 

• Shared professional learning through staff 
engagement with Microsoft Teams and SeeSaw 

• Review of the timetable structure, incorporating 
learnings from the remote learning period 

• The development of a new stakeholder engagement 
approach, to be known as Somerville House Futures 
– Building Tomorrow Together. 

Kim Kiepe  
MEd (Leadership & Management), BEd, DipT, MACEL, GAICD 

PRINCIPAL

Jim Demack  
LLB, LLM, A MUS A, GAICD

SOMERVILLE HOUSE SCHOOL  
COUNCIL CHAIR
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SUNSHINE COAST  
GRAMMAR SCHOOL 
Staying focused on our moral purpose in the midst of adversity has highlighted the 
strength, resilience, creativity and adaptability of our community. 

 
Our school has maintained our commitment to 
continual refurbishment and improvement with the 
completion of the Science Centre in May and students 
able to enjoy these new facilities when they returned 
for face-to-face learning after some five weeks of 
remote learning. The two-storey state of the art facility 
comprises contemporary laboratories, preparation 
rooms, additional general learning areas, and staff 
facilities. As part of our Master Plan, work commenced 
on the new Visual Art Centre in September 2020. 

The new access road, Grammar School Way, opened 
to school traffic at the beginning of the school year in 
January and included a new entry statement, signage, 
security gates and new landscaping. 

Cognisant of the economic climate in 2020, the School 
remains committed to ensuring fees remain affordable 
to parents who have chosen a Grammar education on 
for their children. The School Council acknowledges the 
families who were, and continue to be, affected by the 
COVID-19 pandemic. 

The School acknowledges the graduating class of 2020. 
They were the first cohort to graduate amid major 
upheavals to the school year. They were the first group 

of Year 12s in Queensland to sit external exams in nearly 
50 years, and the first to collectively achieve an ATAR 
instead of an OP. 

The school was well positioned to transition to remote 
learning through the school’s established Grammar 
Education Community Online (GECO). All students P-12 
were afforded seamless, engaging learning experiences 
and remained connected to their teachers throughout 
remote learning. 

We acknowledge Grammar families, students and staff 
on navigating a challenging year with courage and a 
strength of purpose. The school year finished with 1322 
enrolments, 55 above the budget number of 1267. 

Maria Woods  
M Ed, B Ed, Dip T, Cert Residential Care MAICD 
MACEL MACE AIMM 

PRINCIPAL

Ken Watson  
MA (Strat Studies), CSC, GAICD

SUNSHINE COAST GRAMMAR 
SCHOOL COUNCIL CHAIR
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The global pandemic took the world by storm in early 2020. With central resources 
now available at the PMSA Group Office, we were well positioned to work together  
and manage our Group response. 

 
As the global pandemic was declared in early March, 
the PMSA was already working on broader Group-wide 
crisis management plans, consider strategic risks and 
organisation-wide support resources to assist in managing 
COVID-19.

The Group Office adopted a crisis management model 
and undertook both preparation activities and preliminary 
response activities and working together with schools to 
consider how each school translated this information for 
the individual school and site level.

We also developed PMSA portal information to enable 
staff and governance leaders to easily access the latest 
updates, advice and resources. PMSA ‘positions’ or ‘policies’ 
in relation to COVID-19 such as the Pandemic Leave policy 
and Working from Home policy became available here. 

With more than 4500 students across the four PMSA 
schools, our schools were already well-experienced in 

managing communicable diseases and well-placed to 
leverage existing emergency response plans. 

Throughout the early uncertain periods, our schools 
continued to follow government advice on managing this 
issue including advice regarding school closures. Schools 
regularly communicated with parents / carers, students, 
staff and the broader school community on how the ever-
changing advice affected school activities. 

As the risk of school closures became more likely in April, 
PMSA Group Office worked with each individual school 
on modelling for an extended closure which included 
potential long-term loss of enrolments. 

During this time, our PMSA schools geared to very 
successfully provide continued learning from home which 
would enable many of our staff to continue to work from 
home which became a reality at the end  
of Term 1. 

THE PMSA'S  
PANDEMIC RESPONSE
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To cover extra cleaning costs, the Federal Government 
announced the Special Hygiene Assistance payment 
providing a base amount of $2,000 per school plus $45 
per every 15 students (as per 2019 enrolment figures) 
for schools that had 50 per cent of students back in 
the classroom by 1 June. Our schools welcomed this 
additional funding to cover the additional cleaning 
expenditure to ensure the safety and wellbeing of our 
staff, students and volunteers.

On students’ return to campus in late May, schools 
developed their COVID safe plans in line with 
government requirements. 

Our boarding school students also became a major 
focus at this time. Independent schools successfully 
worked together to lobby Queensland's Chief Medical 
Officer to grant isolation exemptions to interstate 
boarders who are coming from the Northern Territory, 
rural or remote properties where they have been 
resident exclusively in that location for the 14 days 
preceding their travel to Queensland, or within 200 kms 
of the Queensland border and have no known cases in 
their community.

Children of essential workers and vulnerable students 
continued to physically attend school but numbers 
of students actually attending our schools each day 
remained low.

With almost 1000 full-time, part-time and casual staff 
across our four schools and the PMSA Group Office, staff 
worked together to ensure the safety and wellbeing of 
staff. 

For the remainder of 2020, staff in the PMSA Group 
Office and our schools continued to agilely adapt school 
plans and arrangements to meet the ever-changing 
government COVID safe requirements. 

We are so proud of the way the PMSA Group has 
responded to this crisis and continue to carry with us 
the word of the Gospel to give us strength and resolve 
to continue to face challenges in the future.  

So do not fear, for I am with you;
    do not be dismayed, for I am your God.
I will strengthen you and help you;
    I will uphold you with my righteous right hand.

Isaiah 41:10
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FOCUS
WE’VE BEEN HERE BEFORE   

2020 was a year of challenging times for everyone, 
but particularly schools. School staff were required to 
quickly adapt classroom lessons to at-home learning, 
and we are very proud to say that our PMSA schools 
have accomplished it without skipping a beat. 

Although success was most likely due to the 
outstanding quality and dedication of our staff, as well 
as the commitment of our students and families, our 
100 plus year history and ‘having been here before’ may 
have had something to do with our schools’ ability to 
agilely adapt with the times.

THE SPANISH FLU
In early 1919 when the Spanish flu or pneumonic 
influenza epidemic swept across the world, many staff 
at Somerville House including the school principals 
were stranded at Coolangatta when, like today, the 
borders were closed. 

Somerville House’s 1919 magazine A Legacy of Honour 
recalls the principals Miss Jarrett and Miss Harker found 
themselves being kept in a quarantine camp in “very 
primitive and unpleasant conditions at Tweed Heads”. 

“The worst aspect of this situation was that they were 
unable to return in time to open the school for the start 
of the school year on 6 February,” the year book states. 

The start of Term 1 in 1919 was consequently delayed 
until March and parents were notified of the delayed 
opening in the newspaper. 

Along with the principals, the matron of the Somerville 
House boarding house, seven regular staff, and three 
visiting teachers were held in quarantine until 27 
February.

For Brisbane Boys' College, the Spanish flu didn't have 
as big an impact on staff and students as the recently 
ended World War. But school routines at our PMSA 
schools have been disturbed many other times. 

POLIO OUTBREAK
In 1932, an outbreak of polio or infantile paralysis kept 
students under the age of 10 at home for six weeks 

at all three PMSA schools – Brisbane Boys’ College, 
Somerville House and the newly established  
Clayfield College. 

According to the Somerville House Honour before 
Honours magazine, the PMSA followed the regulations 
of the Department of Public Instruction set for the state 
schools to keep children under 10 at home and the 
boarding house also closed.

To continue the students’ education, the principals 
immediately organised a correspondence course and 
the papers were mailed out to students at home twice 
a week as far as Southport and the Darling Downs. 

“All the girls who took the correspondence lessons 
were able to take the 1st Quarter’s examinations on 
equal conditions with those who were at school,” the 
magazine stated. 

Day girls who were able to attend school during the 
epidemic had to gargle with Condy’s crystals before 
school and were expected to do the same when they 
returned home.  

MUMPS EPIDEMIC
In 1934, a mumps epidemic ravaged Brisbane and the 
Brisbane Boys’ College boarding house was impacted 
significantly with only three of 54 boarders not catching 
the disease.

PMSA Chief Executive Officer Sharon Callister said two 
World Wars, the Great Depression, as well as these 
many health outbreaks have significantly impacted 
our schools, but the resilience and compassion and 
kindness of the school community has been a shining 
beacon of light each time.

“Today, our schools have adapted quickly and are well 
prepared for this challenging time with well-developed 
technology to deliver learning from home to our 
students,” said Mrs Callister.

“We've somewhat been here before and worked 
together to get through the challenges. We will do it 
again.”

This photo is a page from the Queenslander pictorial supplement to The Queenslander on 15 February 
1919, showing Queenslanders stranded at a quarantine camp at Tweed Heads in NSW following the 
sudden closure of border. We believe the two women in white at the end of the second row on the right 
are Somerville House Principals Miss Jarrett and Miss Harker (Source: John Oxley Library).
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REMOTE LEARNING PROGRAM BOOSTS ENROLMENTS   

For new Clayfield College principal Dr Andrew Cousins, 
who only commenced in the role in January, 2020 has 
been an extraordinary year. But it’s one he’s taken in 
his stride. Dr Cousins has not only settled into his new 
role, he has also developed an outstanding learning 
from home program – Clayfield Connect – which is 
one example of the outstanding learning from home 
programs that our PMSA schools provided during 2020. 

So good were the quality of our schools’ home learning 
programs, that students like Matilda Woodhead 
enrolled at Clayfield College as 
a result.

“The quality of education 
and teacher attention from 
Clayfield’s program which 
Matilda was able to sample late 
last term as well as over the 
Easter break was going to be far 
better than what was on offer as 
her previous school,” Matilda’s 
mother Trudi Woodhead said.

Clayfield College Principal 
Dr Andrew Cousins said the 
situation brought out the best 
in our entire Clayfield team to 
create an outstanding remote 
learning platform tailored for each year level and 
individual student. 

“The same principles that underpin our face-to-face 
learning - personalised, holistic, collaborative, nurturing, 
rigorous - apply to our delivery of remote learning,” Dr 
Cousins said.

Dr Cousins said Clayfield College had adapted quickly 
and is exploring the scope to provide Clayfield Connect 
outside of this COVID-19 crisis for students who may 
need either short or long term remote learning. 

“Students with chronic or acute health issues who 
may not be able to attend school in person, as well 
as international and remote students would benefit 
greatly ongoing from Clayfield Connect.”

In the Clayfield College primary school, students and 
teachers followed as much of the regular curriculum as 
possible and worked to a relatively normal timetable. 

“Teachers tailored their teaching using a mix of video, 
online chats and paper learning materials depending 
on the subject and age level,” says Head of Primary Mrs 
Fellowes. 

“The teachers were also extremely flexible if families 
were unable to stick to the school timetable. Students 

were able to easily complete 
work at other times and could 
access their teacher through 
Clayfield Connect ‘Ask your 
Teacher’ Channel on Microsoft 
Teams.”

As the students moved into 
secondary school and become 
more independent learners, the 
learning from home schedule 
became more flexible. Each day, 
students checked in with their 
pastoral care class and to each 
subject. 

“We recommended no matter 
what their year level, students 

planned to learn as they would if they were at school. 
We also set and recommended they continue to do 
homework as they would if they physically attended 
school,” said Mrs Fellowes.

Clayfield students didn’t have to wear their uniform 
when learning at home, but some, like Matilda, 
couldn’t resist putting on her uniform for her school 
day. 

Pastoral care also played a key role with a strong focus 
on remaining connected with the Clayfield community 
and their peers as well as mental health. A regular 
pastoral care newsletter The Connection gives helpful 
tips for all ages on handling emotions, communicating 
and staying connected.

FOCUS
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FINANCE REPORT
These financial statements are an extraction from the audited consolidated special 
purpose financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020. The full 
accounts are published on the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission 
(ACNC) website.   

The financial statements show that government grants 
continue to provide a significant level of funding to the 
Group and make up 25 per cent of the Group’s total 
income. Contributions by families, however, continue to 
be the most significant income source for operation of 
our schools.  

In 2020, families contributed 66 per cent of total income 
through tuition and boarding fees.  Employment of staff 
is the largest component of our expenditure at 64 per 
cent of our costs.  

The PMSA Group consolidated special purpose financial 
statements are prepared on an accrual basis in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. They 
comply with the Association Incorporations Act 1981, 
Australian Education Act 2013, Education (Accreditation 
of Non-State Schools) Act 2017, and Australian Charities 
and Not-for-profits Commission (ACNC) Act 2012. 

These Group statements are prepared by consolidating 
the financial statements of each of the PMSA’s four 
schools – Brisbane Boys’ College, Clayfield College, 
Somerville House and Sunshine Coast Grammar School 
and other entities. Each year, 

PMSA schools prepare annual financial statements 
which are adopted by each School Council, ratified by 
the PMSA Board and independently audited by KPMG.

Each of the PMSA’s four schools operate independently 
and the School Council, Principal and Business Manager 
of each school manage the school’s financial accounts, 
budget and performance. 

Each school has independent income, bank accounts, 
expenditure, and targets which are separate and 
distinct from the other PMSA schools. 

Funding from parents, supporters and governments 
received in each of our schools is used wholly for the 
operations and development of that school. All income 
that each PMSA school receives from fees, donations, 
government grants and any other source is used 
entirely to operate and develop that school. No funds 
are shared, cross subsidised or transferred between any 
PMSA schools.

Although operated independently, each PMSA school is 
owned by and is a part of a single legal entity which is 
the PMSA. 

The PMSA Group works to ensure that the Group 
performance is achieved and optimised through a range 
of defined oversight and governance processes. 

Each year, PMSA schools contribute to the costs of the 
PMSA Group Office incurred in governing the schools 
as well as shared services and collective expenses 
for insurance premiums, auditing, professional 
development and training, and compliance; and other 
consolidated costs for each of the schools.

In addition to this report, each of our schools provide 
financial reporting through the Department of 
Education and Training which is published through the 
My School website. 

Joanne Segond von Banchet
PMSA Group Chief Financial Officer
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020

In dollars
2020

$’000s
2019

$’000s

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents                   21,039 10,634

Trade and other receivables                     2,964 3,496

Prepayments                     2,156 2,728

Inventories                        455 437

Total current assets                   26,614 17,295

Trade and other receivables                          94 112

Investments                   22,105 22,604

Property, plant and equipment                 503,105 504,729

Total non-current assets                 525,304 527,445

Total assets                 551,917 544,740

Liabilities

Trade and other payables                   23,499 25,347

Loans and borrowings                     7,204 3,269

Employee benefits                     9,918 9,523

Total current liabilities                   40,621 38,139

Trade and other payables                     2,699 3,147

Loans and borrowings                   28,393 30,963

Employee benefits                     1,603 1,566

Total non-current liabilities                   32,695 35,676

Total liabilities                   73,316 73,815

Net assets                 478,601 470,925

Equity

Reserves                 296,128                 296,864 

Retained earnings                 182,473                 174,061 

Total equity                 478,601 470,925
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

 In dollars
2020

$’000s
2019

$’000s

Revenue       121,584  119,735 

Other income         19,592    20,996 

Administrative expenses        (17,385)   (20,965)

Employee benefits expense        (84,863)   (80,716)

Depreciation expense        (13,310)   (12,520)

Other expenses        (16,887)   (20,314)

Results from operating activities           8,731      6,216 

Finance income              354         236 

Finance costs             (908)     (1,254)

Net finance costs             (554)     (1,018)

Profit for the year           8,177      5,198 

Other comprehensive income

Items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss:

Contribution to development reserve                   -         626 

Transfer to long service leave provision              174       (795)

Net (loss)/gain on revaluation             (675)      2,511 

Other comprehensive income             (501)      2,342 

Total comprehensive income           7,676      7,540 
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PMSA GROUP

BRISBANE BOYS’ COLLEGE

EXPENDITURE
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CLAYFIELD COLLEGE

SOMERVILLE HOUSE

SUNSHINE COAST GRAMMAR SCHOOL

INCOME
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FOCUS
TAKING ADVANTAGE OF GROUP-WIDE  
OPPORTUNITIES TO LEVERAGE SCALE 

One of the key outcomes of the PMSA governance 
review in 2018 and the subsequent Strategic Plan 
2019-2023 was to leverage the scale of the PMSA Group 
of schools to create efficiencies and benefit from the 
Group’s collective strengths and scale.

With increased competition, rising teacher wages which 
continue to rise, and an overall reduction in school 
government funding, schools are constantly challenged 
to find ways to reduce costs and keep parent fee 
increases low. 

Schools which are a part of a Group and can benefit 
from joint procurement efforts will no doubt be in a 
better position to pass on more savings to parents. 

Since the 2018 review, the PMSA Group Office has 
explored many back office areas where schools have 
and will continue to benefit from sharing services, 
purchasing as a Group and collaborating together. 
It is important to note that these back office savings 
don’t interfere with each school’s unique methods of 
delivering education.

In addition to many Group purchasing arrangements 
that have occurred through 2020, one of the largest 
and most significant Group leveraging opportunities 
that commenced was the PMSA’s new HRIS (Human 
Resource Information System). 

Developed together with the schools experienced 
business managers and their ‘Working Together Group’ 
as well as the schools human resources functions, this 
initiative will cover the implementation of the following 
HR digital platform over the next three years: 
• HR Core – a Group-wide digital repository 

of employee personnel files, gatekeeping of 
compliance expiration dates, including Blue Card, 
registration and licences. 

• End to End recruitment – the automation 
of recruitment, talent pools, interviews and 

recruitment and selection processes 
• Onboarding – automation of employment 

paperwork, including contracts, TFN, 
Superannuation, Licences and Registration and 
Criminal Reference Checks. 

• Learning Management System – the 
implementation of a more contemporary, accessible 
and agile LMS platform 

• Payroll module – the implementation of a sound 
payroll module which supports an education 
specific enterprise agreement and the unique 
formula and accrual provisions within it 

• Performance management – the automation 
of performance management processes to 
support contemporary and best practice career 
development. 

PMSA Chief Executive Officer Sharon Callister said the 
new HRIS is a great example of schools benefiting from 
adopting a Group-wide approach which will provide 
greater economies of scale and the most accurate data. 

“The HRIS is a key initiative under the PMSA’s Strategic 
Plan working to adopt technologies and simplifying 
and empowering the corporate office to identify and 
implement initiatives across the organisation,” she said. 

“Although this is common place in a number of other 
industries, it is one of the first of its kind in the education 
industry.”

“This management tool will enable us to create an 
unprecedented level of sophistication in our workforce 
relations as we strive to remain an employer-of-choice,” 
she said.

The HRIS will replace the current manual human 
resources practices as well as replace the existing 
payroll module. In doing so, it will provide an enhanced, 
automated, agile and responsive HRIS business 
function.
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The PMSA is now more than 100 years old. In early 2020, each of our schools received 
new framed pictures of the PMSA mission, vision and values and how each school’s 
history is tied with the overall PMSA history – an important part of a shared history 
and a shared future. We also compiled some interesting PMSA history of all the PMSA 
Board Chairs since 1918, which included one woman in 1971 and three Brisbane Boys’ 
College Old Collegians. 

 

MISSION, VISION AND VALUES

OUR MISSION
The PMSA’s mission is to provide outstanding teaching and learning environments for our students and staff, in 
schools built on the teachings and examples of Jesus Christ. Our focus is to enable students to discover and then 
develop their God-given talents. Our aim is for students to achieve personal excellence, live a fulfilling and satisfying 
life and make a meaningful contribution to family and society.

DRIVEN BY OUR VISION
The PMSA's vision is to build caring school communities, by providing world-class teaching and learning 
environments of excellence, permeated by Christian faith and actions.

SHARED HISTORY, SHARED FUTURE
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THE GLOBAL PANDEMIC 

RELATIONSHIPS 
We strive to form binding, constructive 
relationships based on faith, love, 
compassion and forgiveness.

CARE 
We care for our people. We seek and 
provide a safe environment for growth 
and development, where we can respect 
ourselves and the needs of others.  

ETHICS 
We encourage the building of strong 
ethical standards based on truth and 
integrity.

PERSONAL DEVELOPMENT 
We foster resilience, where we learn 
from our mistakes and successes, and 
seek continuous improvement and self 
management.

EXCELLENCE 
We aspire to achieve excellence and 
encourage each person to reach their 
potential.

CELEBRATION 
We collectively recognise and celebrate 
our own and others’ achievements and 
milestones. 

WHAT DOES THE PMSA  
CREST MEAN?
The PMSA crest is made up of a number of different 
elements. At the centre of the shield is a lamp on 
a stand. Light has always been associated with 
knowledge, and for centuries a lighted oil lamp has 
been used as a symbol for academic learning. 

For Christians, the lamp takes on additional significance 
as a metaphor for the gospel, most notably, Psalm 
119:105 says ‘Your word is a lamp to my feet and a 
light to my path’. The surrounding shield represents 
protection and strength.

Above the shield is an open book which represents the 
manifestation of learning and also represents the bible. 
The Southern Cross sits across the book indicating the 
PMSA’s focus on education in the southern hemisphere.

The PMSA’s motto below the shield “Pro Civitate Bene 
Fundata” is Latin for “Firmly founded for the good of the 
State” or 

“For the Good of the Community”. 

GUIDED BY OUR VALUES
PMSA schools play an important role in providing an outstanding education and guiding young people with values 
for life. 

Founded on strong Christian values – relationships, care, ethics, personal development, excellence and celebration 
– each PMSA school is unique and individual, but shares with each other their collective values as well as their 
knowledge and expertise to enhance the educational experience across all schools. 
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Thank you to everyone who has supported the PMSA and our four great 
schools throughout 2020, especially during the uncertainty of a global 

pandemic. We truly appreciate and value the support you give so that the 
PMSA and our schools can work to achieve our mission. 

We also thank the commitment and dedication of our wonderful staff. 
Without you, our mission and vision would not be possible. 

The PMSA is a not-for-profit organisation and across the organisation 
relies heavily on the generosity of volunteers – from parents, carers, past 
students and the community to PMSA Board members, School Council 

members and Committee members. 

Staff
Students
Parents

Grandparents
Carers

Past students
Alumni members

Foundation members
Foundation donors

Sport supporters
Music supporters
School sponsors

PMSA Board members
School Council members

Committee members
Supporting churches

Supporting organisations
Community supporters

THANK YOU TO OUR PMSA COMMUNITY:
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Amen

May we who are merely inconvenienced
Remember those whose lives are at stake. 
May we who have no risk factors
Remember those most vulnerable.
May we who have the luxury of working from home
Remember those who must choose between 
preserving their health or making their rent. 
May we who have the flexibility to care for our 
children when their schools close
Remember those who have no options. 
May we who have to cancel our trips
Remember those who have no safe place to go. 
May we who are losing our margin money in the 
tumult on the economic market
Remember those who have no margin at all. 
May we who settle in for a quarantine at home
Remember those who have no home. 
As fear grips our country, let us choose love. 
During this time when we cannot physically wrap 
our arms around each other, 
Let us yet find ways to be the loving embrace of 
God to our neighbours.  

PRAYER FOR A PANDEMIC
by Cameron Bellm
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BOARD MEMBERS’ REPORT
For the year ended 31 December 2020

The Board members present their report on the Presbyterian and Methodist Schools Association (PMSA) for the 
financial year ended 31 December 2020.

The names of the Board members in office at any time during or since the end of the year are shown below. Board 
members have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless otherwise stated.

BOARD & COMMITTEE ATTENDANCE

Board Member
PMSA Board

Audit, Finance & 
Risk Committee

Child Protection 
& Safeguarding 

Committee

Nominations 
& Human 
Resources 
Committee

Policy  
Committee

Eligible Attended Eligible Attended Eligible Attended Eligible Attended Eligible Attended

Greg Adsett 
Retired 20 March 2020

3 3 1 1   1 1   

Peter Barker
Appointed 15 June 2020

5 5 4 4       

Greg Braithwaite
Retired 31 March 2020

3 0         

Margaret Berry 10 10         

Bridget Cullen
Retired 2 February 2021

2 2     1 1 1 1

Jim Demack 10 10         

Greg Eddy
Appointed 16 November 

2020

0 0         

Con Graves
Retired 23 March 2020

3 2       1 0

Mark Gray
Retired 3 August 2020

6 5         

Jane Madden
Appointed 15 June 2020

5 5 4 4       

Helen Murray
Retired 30 June 2020

5 2         

Wayne Knapp 10 10   1 0 3 3 4 2

Morgan Parker 10 10 5 5   7 7   

Greg Skelton
Retired 27 March 2020

2 1 1 1       



2 PMSA CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2020

Principal Activities 
The PMSA – Presbyterian and Methodist Schools Association – owns four independent Queensland schools:  
Brisbane Boys’ College, Clayfield College, Somerville House and Sunshine Coast Grammar School. Established 
in 1918, the PMSA is a joint mission of the Uniting Church of Australia, Queensland Synod and the Presbyterian 
Church of Queensland.

The PMSA’s mission is to provide outstanding teaching and learning environments for our students and staff, 
in schools built on the teachings and examples of Jesus Christ.  Each PMSA school shares and is guided by our 
ecumenical Christian values – relationships, care, ethics, personal development, excellence and celebration

Operating results
The operating profit of PMSA for the year ended 31 December 2020 was $8,177million (2019: $5,198 million).

BOARD MEMBERS’ REPORT
For the year ended 31 December 2020

SCHOOL COUNCIL ATTENDANCE

Board Member

Brisbane Boys' 
College Council

Clayfield College 
Council

Somerville House 
School Council

Sunshine Coast 
Grammar School 

Council

Eligible Attended Eligible Attended Eligible Attended Eligible Attended

Peter Barker
Appointed 8 February 2021

0 0       

Margaret Berry     7 7   

Bridget Cullen
Brisbane Boy's College

Appointed 3 August 2020

Retired 16 November 2020

Clayfield College

Retired 2 February 2021

4 4 4 4     

Jim Demack     7 7   

Greg Eddy
Appointed 16 November 2020

  0 0     

Con Graves
Retired 23 March 2020

2 1       

Mark Gray
Retired 3 August 2020

6 6       

Jane Madden         

Helen Murray
Retired 30 June 2020

  6 6     

Wayne Knapp       7 5

Morgan Parker         
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BOARD MEMBERS’ REPORT
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Related party transactions – Board members
The PMSA has a policy in relation to related party transactions to ensure that if the PMSA enters into transactions 
during the year with Board members, their firms or associated entities, then these transactions will be within 
normal customer relationships and on commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than those available 
to other customers or service providers.

Indemnifying Officers or Auditor
During the financial period, the PMSA has paid a premium to insure all Board members and Officers against 
liabilities for costs and expenses incurred by them in defending any legal proceedings arising out of their conduct 
while acting in their capabilities as Board members and Officers of the PMSA, other than conduct involving a 
wilful breach of duty in relation to the PMSA.

The PMSA has not otherwise, during or since the end of the financial year, in respect of any person who is or has 
been an officer or auditor of the PMSA:

a.  indemnified or made any relevant agreement for indemnifying any such person against a liability, 
including costs and expenses in successfully defending proceedings; or

b.  paid or agreed to pay a premium in respect of a contract insuring against a liability for the costs or 
expenses to defend legal proceedings.

Proceedings on behalf of the PMSA
No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the PMSA or intervene in any 
proceedings to which the PMSA is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the PMSA for all or 
any part of those proceedings.  The PMSA was not a party to any such proceedings during the financial period.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of Board Members.

Chair, PMSA Board 

MORGAN PARKER

Dated this 24th day of May 2021 

Chair, Audit Finance & Risk Committee

PETER BARKER
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020

In dollars Note
2020
$000

2019
$000

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 8                 21,039                 10,634 

Trade and other receivables 9                   2,964                   3,496 

Prepayments                   2,156                   2,728 

Inventories                      455                      437 

Total current assets                 26,614                 17,295 

Trade and other receivables 9                        94                      112 

Investments                 22,104                 22,604 

Property, plant and equipment 10               503,105               504,729 

Total non-current assets                525,303                527,445 

Total assets                551,917                544,740 

Liabilities

Trade and other payables 11                 23,499                 25,347 

Loans and borrowings 12                   7,204                   3,269 

Employee benefits 13                   9,918                   9,523 

Total current liabilities                 40,621                 38,139 

Trade and other payables 11                   2,699                   3,147 

Loans and borrowings 12                 28,393                 30,963 

Employee benefits 13                   1,603                   1,566 

Total non-current liabilities                 32,695                 35,676 

Total liabilities                 73,316                 73,815 

Net assets                478,601                470,925 

Equity

Reserves               296,128               296,864 

Retained earnings               182,473               174,061 

Total equity                478,601                470,925 

The notes on pages 8 to 23 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020

 In dollars Note
2020
$000

2019
$000

Revenue 4             121,584             119,735 

Other income 5               19,592               20,996 

Administrative expenses              (17,385)              (20,965)

Employee benefits expense 6              (84,863)              (80,716)

Depreciation expense              (13,310)              (12,520)

Other expenses 7              (16,887)              (20,314)

Results from operating activities                 8,731                 6,216 

Finance income                    354                    236 

Finance costs                   (908)                (1,254)

Net finance costs                   (554)                (1,018)

Profit for the year                 8,177                 5,198 

  

Other comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:

Contribution to development reserve                        -                    626 

Transfer to long service leave provision                    174                   (795)

Net (loss)/gain on revaluation                   (675)                 2,511 

Other comprehensive income                   (501)                 2,342 

Total comprehensive income                 7,676                 7,540 

The notes on pages 8 to 23 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

In dollars
Retained earnings 

$000
Reserves

$000
Total equity

$000

Balance at 1 January 2019                168,475                294,910                463,385 

Profit for the year                   5,198                          -                   5,198 

Contribution to development reserve                          -                      626                      626 

Transfer to long service leave                          -                     (795)                     (795)

Investment reserve movement                          -                   2,511                   2,511 

Transfer between reserves                      388                     (388)                          0 

Total comprehensive income                   5,586                   1,954                   7,540 

Balance at 31 December 2019                174,061                296,864                470,925 

Balance at 1 January 2020                174,061                296,864                470,925 

Profit for the year                   8,177                          -                   8,177 

Contribution to development reserve                          -                          - 

Transfer to long service leave                          -                      174                      174 

Investment reserve movement                          -                     (675)                     (675)

Transfer between reserves                      235                     (235)                          - 

Total comprehensive income                   8,412                     (736)                   7,676 

Balance at 31 December 2020                182,473                296,128                478,601 

The notes on pages 8 to 23 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

In dollars Note
2020
$000

2019
$000

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash receipts from customers                102,088                114,668 

Donations received                   1,213                   1,478 

Grants received                 36,379                 35,048 

Interest received                      354                      236 

Distributions & imputation credits received                   1,173                      208 

Cash paid to suppliers and employees               (118,818)               (132,011)

Interest paid                     (844)                  (1,273)

Net cash from operating activities 8                 21,545                 18,354 

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment                        38                      589 

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment                (11,646)                (11,190)

Other proceeds from investments                          -                     (544)

Net cash used in investing activities                (11,608)                (11,145)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings                   5,722                 13,798 

Repayment of borrowings                  (3,867)                (19,195)

Payment of finance lease liabilities                  (1,387)                  (1,001)

Net cash used in financing activities                      468                  (6,398)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents                 10,405                      811 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January                 10,634                   9,823 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 4 8                 21,039                 10,634 

The notes on pages 8 to 23 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

1 Reporting entity
The Board members present their report on the Presbyterian and Methodist Schools Association (PMSA) for 
the financial year ended 31 December 2020.

2 Basis of preparation

(a) Basis of accounting     

The special purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the recognition, 
measurement and classification aspects of all applicable Australian Accounting Standards (AASBs) 
adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB).

The PMSA is a not-for-profit entity and has prepared these financial statements in accordance with the 
Australian Charites and Not-for-Profit Commission Act.

The special purpose financial statements include only the disclosure requirements of the following AASBs 
and those disclosures considered necessary by the Board Members to meet the needs of members:  
  

 – AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements

 – AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows

 – AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors

 – AASB 1048 Interpretation and Application of Standards

 – AASB 1054 Australian Additional Disclosures

The financial statements do not comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted 
by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). Certain comparative amounts have been 
reclassified to conform to the current year's presentation requirements.

(b) Basis of measurement 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, unless otherwise stated in the 
notes.

(c) Functional and presentation currency 

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the PMSA’s functional currency. 

(d) Use of judgements and estimates 

In preparing these financial statements, management has made judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the application of the PMSA’s accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised prospectively.

(e) Going concern

As detailed in the Statement of Financial Position, the PMSA has a shortfall of current assets over current 
liabilities of $14,007k at 31 December 2020 (2019: $20,844k). The Board Members are of the view that the 
effect of the following mitigating factors will allow the PMSA to continue to meet its debts as and when 
they fall due:
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2 Basis of preparation (continued) 

(e) Going concern (continued)

i. Current liabilities include prepaid fees of $14,831k for which there is no settlement due in the 
following reporting period as it represents cash received in advance for School fees for 2021 and 
beyond; 

ii. Current liabilities include an annual leave and long service leave provisions of $9,918k for which 
full settlement in cash is not expected in the following reporting period;

iii. An expectation of continued receipts from tuition fees and government grants; and

iv. An expectation of continued generation of cash surpluses by the PMSA.

3 Significant accounting policies     
The PMSA has consistently applied the following accounting policies to all periods presented in these financial 
statements.

(a) Income tax           

The PMSA is an educational institution and accordingly is exempt from income tax under Section 50-5 of 
the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997.       

(i) Recognition and measurement       

Items of plant and equipment are measured at cost or fair value, where applicable, less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Freehold land and buildings 
are shown at their fair value (being the amount for which an asset could be exchanged between 
knowledgeable willing parties in an arm's length transaction) less accumulated depreciation. An 
independent assessment of the fair value of land and buildings is completed once every five (5) years 
or as determined by the PMSA. In accordance with this policy, an independent valuation assessment 
was undertaken as at 31 December 2017.     

If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are 
accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.  

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in profit or 
loss. When revalued assets are disposed of, the amounts included in the revaluation reserve are 
transferred to retained earnings. 

(ii) Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is probable that the future economic benefits 
associated with the expenditure will flow to the PMSA.

(b) Property, plant and equipment         

(i) Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of property, plant and equipment less their estimated 
residual values using the straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, and is generally 
recognised in profit or loss.  Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and 
their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the PMSA will obtain ownership by the end of 
the lease term. Land is not depreciated. 

The depreciation rates used for each class of property, plant and equipment are as follows:   
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b) Property, plant and equipment (continued)      

(i) Depreciation (continued)

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and 
adjusted if appropriate.

(c) Financial instruments

(i) Non derivative financial assets and financial liabilities – recognition and derecognition

The PMSA initially recognises loans and receivables issued on the date that they are originated. All 
other financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised initially on the trade date. 

The PMSA derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
asset expire. Any interest in such transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the PMSA 
is recognised as a separate asset or liability.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement 
of financial position when, and only when, the PMSA has a legal right to offset the amounts 
and intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously. 

(ii) Non derivative financial assets – measurement       

Financial assets

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at amortised cost on the basis that 
both of the following conditions are met:

 – it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash 
flows; and

 – its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange 
gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition 
is recognised in profit or loss.

Depreciation Rate

Land and Buildings 2.50%

Swimming Pool           5.00% - 20.00%

Furniture & Equipment 10.00% - 40.00%

Plant and Machinery 10.00% - 33.33%

Fixtures and Fittings 10.00% - 20.00%

Computers 25.00% - 33.00%

Computer Software 33.33% - 40.00%

Library 2.50% - 20.00%

Audio Visual 25.00% - 33.00%

Motor Vehicles 10.00% - 20.00%

Oxley and Corinda                                    2.50% - 25.00%
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(d) Impairment 

(i) Non-derivative financial assets     

Financial instruments

The PMSA recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECLs) on financial assets measured 
at amortised cost.

The PMSA measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since 
initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the PMSA considers reasonable and supportable 
information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both 
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the PMSA's historical experience and 
informed credit assessment and including forward-looking information.

The PMSA assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more 
than 90 days past due.

The PMSA considers a financial asset to be in default when the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit 
obligations to the PMSA in full, without recourse by the PMSA to actions such as realising security (if 
any is held).

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a 
financial instrument.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over 
which the PMSA is exposed to credit risk. 

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present 
value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance 
with the contract and the cash flows that the PMSA expects to receive).

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross 
carrying amount of the assets.

Write-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the PMSA has no reasonable 
expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. The PMSA expects 
no significant recovery from the amount written off. However, financial assets that are written off 
could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the PMSA's procedures for 
recovery of amounts due.

(ii) Non financial assets        

All non-current physical assets are assessed for indicators of impairment on an annual basis. If an 
indicator of possible impairment exists, the PMSA determines the asset's recoverable amount. Any 
amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount is recorded as an 
impairment loss.

An asset's recoverable amount is determined as the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell 
and depreciated replacement cost. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss 
unless the relevant asset is carried as at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is 
treated as a revaluation decrease.
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(e) Inventories          

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and current replacement cost. Inventories acquired at no 
cost, or for nominal consideration, are valued at the current replacement cost as at the date of acquisition.

(f) Employee benefits       

(i) Short-term employee benefits     

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is 
recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short term cash bonus or profit sharing plans 
if the PMSA has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past 
service provided by the employee, and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

(ii) Defined contribution plans     

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as the related service 
is provided. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a 
reduction in future payments is available.

(iii) Other long term employee benefits    

The PMSA’s net obligation in respect of long term employee benefits is the amount of future benefit 
that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. That benefit 
is discounted to determine its present value.  Remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss in the 
period in which they arise. 

(iv) Termination benefits       

Termination benefits are expensed at the earlier of when the PMSA can no longer withdraw the offer 
of those benefits and when the PMSA recognises costs for a restructuring. If benefits are payable 
more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period, then they are discounted.

(g) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the PMSA has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, 
for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably 
measured.  Provisions represent the best estimate of the amounts required to settle the obligation at the 
end of the reporting period.

(h) Revenue           

(i) Tuition fees          

Revenue from tuition fees, levies and other receipts from students are recognised upon the delivery 
of the service or goods.

(ii) Enrolment fees        

Enrolment fees represent an advance payment for future services. Enrolment fees are carried 
forward in the statement of financial position as prepaid tuition fees and are then recognised in 
later years as revenue when those future goods or services are provided.
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(h) Revenue (continued) 

(iii) Grant revenue        

Grant revenue is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income when the entity obtains 
control of the grant and it is probable that the economic benefits gained from the grant will flow to 
the entity and the amount of the grant can be measured reliably. 

lf conditions are attached to the grant which must be satisfied before it is eligible to receive the 
contribution, the recognition of the grant as revenue will be deferred until those conditions are 
satisfied.

When grant revenue is received whereby the entity incurs an obligation to deliver economic value 
directly back to the contributor, this is considered a reciprocal transaction and the grant revenue is 
recognised in the statement of financial position as a liability until the service has been delivered to 
the contributor, otherwise the grant is recognised as income on receipt.

(iv) Non-reciprocal contributions  

Non-reciprocal contributions of assets from other parties for zero or a nominal value are recognised 
at fair value on the date of acquisition in the statement of financial position, with a corresponding 
amount of income recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
Donations, bequests and building fund voluntary contributions are recognised as revenue when 
received. 

(i) Finance income and finance costs  

Interest income or expense is recognised using the effective interest method. 

(j) Goods and Services Tax (GST)     

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of 
GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office.  In these circumstances the GST is 
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense.  Receivables 
and payables in the statement of financial position are shown inclusive of GST.

Cash flows are presented in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis, except for the GST component 
of investment and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows.

(k) Leases 

At inception of a contract, the PMSA assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or 
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of 
time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an 
identified asset, the PMSA uses the definition of a lease in AASB 16. 

(i) As a lessee 

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the PMSA 
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative 
stand-alone prices. However, for the leases of property the PMSA has elected not to separate 
non-lease components and account for the lease and non-lease components as a single lease 
component. 

The PMSA recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. 
The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease 
liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial 
direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to 
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(k) Leases (continued) 

(i) As a lessee (continued) 

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the 
commencement date to the end of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the 
underlying asset to the PMSA by the end of the lease term or the cost of the right-of-use asset 
reflects that the PMSA will exercise a purchase option. In that case the right-of-use asset will be 
depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset, which is determined on the same basis 
as those of property and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by 
impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability. 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid 
at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate 
cannot be readily determined, the PMSA’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the PMSA uses its 
incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. 

The PMSA determines its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates from various 
external financing sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and type 
of the asset leased. 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following: 

 – fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;

 – variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or 
rate as at the commencement date;

 – amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and

 – the exercise price under a purchase option that the PMSA is reasonably certain to exercise, 
lease payments in an optional renewal period if the PMSA is reasonably certain to exercise an 
extension option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the PMSA is reasonably 
certain not to terminate early.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured 
when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there 
is a change in the PMSA’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value 
guarantee, if the PMSA changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or 
termination option or if there is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment. 

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the 
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of 
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero. 

The PMSA presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment property in 
‘property, plant and equipment’ and lease liabilities in ‘loans and borrowings’ in the statement of 
financial position. 

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets    

The PMSA has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value 
assets and short-term leases, including IT equipment. The PMSA recognises the lease payments 
associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

At inception or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the PMSA allocates 
the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone 
prices.   
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(d) Leases (continued)

(ii) As lessor 

When the PMSA acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance 
lease or an operating lease.           

To classify each lease, the PMSA makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers 
substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the 
case, then the lease is a finance lease; if not, then it is an operating lease. As part of this assessment, 
the PMSA considers certain indicators such as whether the lease is for the major part of the 
economic life of the asset. 

When the PMSA is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for its interests in the head lease and the 
sub-lease separately. It assesses the lease classification of a sub-lease with reference to the right-of-
use asset arising from the head lease, not with reference to the underlying asset. If a head lease is 
a short-term lease to which the PMSA applies the exemption described above, then it classifies the 
sub-lease as an operating lease. 

If an arrangement contains lease and non-lease components, then the PMSA applies AASB 15 to 
allocate the consideration in the contract.

The PMSA recognises lease payments received under operating leases as income on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term as part of ‘other revenue’. 

Generally, the accounting policies applicable to the PMSA as a lessor in the comparative period were 
not different from AASB 16 except for the classification of the sub-lease entered into during current 
reporting period that resulted in a finance lease classification
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

2020
$000

2019
$000

4 Revenue

In dollars

Tuition fees and levies                 80,744                 79,687 

Boarding fees and levies                   5,806                   7,074 

Government grants                 35,034                 32,974 

               121,584                119,735 

5 Other income

In dollars

Donations                   1,670                   1,475 

Trading income                   8,673                 11,149 

Gain on disposal of fixed asset                        31                        53 

Other fee income                   9,218                   8,319 

                19,592                 20,996 

6 Employee benefits expenses

In dollars

Salaries and wages                 73,832                 69,868 

Contribution to superannuation funds                   8,431                   8,188 

Other staff costs                   2,600                   2,660 

                84,863 80,716

7 Other expenses

In dollars

Maintenance costs                   9,494                   9,607 

Bad debts expense                      132                      180 

Loss on disposal of fixed asset                      572                      429 

Trading costs                   6,689                 10,098 

                16,887                 20,314 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

2020
$000

2019
$000

8 Cash and cash equivalents

In dollars

Bank balances (a)                 19,888                 10,532 

Call deposits                   1,151                      102 

Cash and cash equivalents in the Statement of Cash Flows                 21,039                 10,634 

Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit                   8,177                   5,198 

Adjustments for:

– Depreciation                 13,310                 12,520 

– Net loss/(gain) on sale of property, plant and equipment                      541                      390 

– Loss on sale of investments (a)                          -                      141 

– Net sale of shares / reinvestments                          -                 (1,497)

– Net LSL contributions                          -                      260 

– Non-cash donation received                    (161)                          - 

                21,867                 17,012 

Changes in: (a)

– Trade and other receivables                 (3,104)                    (684)

– Other assets                      499                    (131)

– Trade and other payables                 (2,440)                   1,616 

– Employee benefits                   4,723                      541 

Net cash from operating activities                 21,545                 18,354 

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

In dollars
Loans and 

borrowings
Lease  

liabilities Total

Balance at 1 January 2019            37,118              3,202               40,320 

Net cash flows from financing activities             (5,397)             (1,001)                (6,398)

Other changes:

Leases - 330                     330 

Interest expense              1,188                   66                 1,254 

Interest paid  (1,207)             (66)                (1,273)

Total other changes                  (19)                 330                   311 

Balance at 31 December 2019            31,702              2,531               34,233 

Net cash flows from financing activities              1,064                (596)                   468 

Other changes:

Leases                   -                   833                   833 

Interest expense 807                 101                   908 

Interest paid (743)                (101)                  (844)

Total other changes                   64                 833                   897 

Balance at 31 December 2020            32,830              2,768               35,598 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

2020
$000

2019
$000

9 Trade and other receivables (a)

In dollars

Current 

 Trade receivables                   2,056        1,175 

 Provision for impairment of trade receivables                  (546)        (566)

 Other receivables                   1,454       2,648 

 Accrued income                          -          239 

                  2,964       3,496 

Non-current

Other receivables                       94          112 

                      94           112 

10 Property, plant and equipment

In dollars (a)

Land and buildings, at fair value               487,257   490,924 

Land and buildings, at cost                 14,448       6,640 

Accumulated depreciation            (20,114)   (13,196)

              481,591   484,368 

Furniture and equipment, at fair value                   1,363       1,510 

Furniture and equipment, at cost                 11,543     14,686 

Accumulated depreciation (b)               (8,661)    (12,559)

                  4,245        3,637 

Plant and machinery, at fair value                   1,571           581 

Plant and machinery, at cost                 14,657      17,363 

Accumulated depreciation            (11,504)    (14,650)

                  4,724        3,294 

Fixtures and fittings, at cost                   1,982       1,831 

Accumulated depreciation               (1,720)     (1,695)

                    262           136 

Leasehold improvements                   3,281        3,281 

Accumulated depreciation                 (188)          (93)

                  3,093        3,188 

Computers, at cost                   2,256        2,176 

Accumulated depreciation               (2,055)     (1,937)

                    201           239 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

2020
$000

2019
$000

10 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Computer software, at cost                     428                     360 

Accumulated depreciation                  (368)                   (251)

                      60                     109 

Audio visual, at cost                     624                     607 

Accumulated depreciation                   (512)                   (409)

(b)                     112                     198 

Motor vehicles, at cost                     854                     883 

Accumulated depreciation                   (631)                   (656)

                    223                     227 

 Oxley and Corinda, at fair value                   4,703                   4,703 

Oxley and Corinda, at cost                     717                     687 

Accumulated depreciation                   (761)                   (658)

                 4,659                  4,732 

Capital work in progress                  3,935                  3,502 

Total property, plant and equipment, at fair value              494,894              497,717 

Total property, plant and equipment, at cost                54,725                53,117 

             549,619              550,834 

Total accumulated depreciation              (46,514)              (46,105)

Total carrying amount              503,105              504,729 

(a) Property, Plant and Equipment Valuation - 2017

In December 2017, independent valuations were carried out on all items of land, buildings and site 
improvements.  These were all revalued in the financial statements as 31 December 2017 based on 
these independent valuations and were adjusted against the asset revaluation reserve.

(b) Furniture and Equipment

Furniture and equipment includes Artwork based on 2017 independent valuation
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

2020
$000

2019
$000

11 Trade and other payables (a)

In dollars

Current 

  Trade payables                   3,221                  2,737 

  Prepaid and deferred fees                14,831                18,277 

  Other payables and accrued expenses                   5,447                  4,333 

               23,499                25,347 

Non-current

Holding deposits                       11                       11 

Other payables and accrued expenses                  2,688                  3,136 

                 2,699                  3,147 

12 Loans and borrowings  

In dollars

Current 

Leases                  1,118                  1,071 

Bank loans                  1,118                  6,086                  2,198 

                 6,086                  7,204                  3,269 

                 7,204 

Non-current

Leases                     858                     858                  1,459 

Bank loans                27,535                27,535                29,504 

               28,393                28,393                30,963 

13 Employee benefits  

  In dollars

Current 

Annual leave                    1,792                  1,661 

Long service leave                  8,126                  7,862 

                 9,918                  9,523 

Non-current

Long service leave                   1,603                  1,566 

                 1,603                  1,566 

14 Leases

(a) Leases as lessee (AASB 16)

The PMSA leases IT equipment with contract terms of one to three years. These leases are short-term 
and/or leases of low-value items. The PMSA has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease 
liabilities for these leases.

Information about leases for which the PMSA is a lessee is presented below.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

14 Leases (Continued)

(a) Leases as lessee (AASB 16) (continued)

(i) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets related to leased properties that do not meet the definition of investment 
property are presented as property, plant and equipment.

2020
$000

2019
$000

Balance at 1 January                   1,356                   1,649 

Depreciation charge for the year                   (473)                   (427)

Additions to right-of-use assets                      837                      326 

Disposals                   (132)                   (192)

Balance at 31 December 2020                   1,588                   1,356 

(ii)    Amounts recognised in profit or loss

In dollars

Leases under AASB 16

Interest on lease liabilities                      101                        66 

Expenses relating to short-term leases                         6                      278 

Expenses relating to low-value assets                   1,390                   1,409 

8

(iii)   Amounts recognised in statement of cash flows 

In dollars 1, 387 1, 001

Total cash outflow for leases 1, 387 1, 001

(iv)   Extension options
Some property leases contain extension options exercisable by the PMSA up to one year before 
the end of the non-cancellable contract period.

15 Auditor's Remuneration

Remuneration of auditors 170 171

16 Capital and reserves

(a) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Asset revaluation reserve
The asset revaluation reserve relates to land and buildings measured at fair value in 
accordance with applicable Australian Accounting Standards

17 Related party transactions

The PMSA's related parties include its key management personnel and related entities as described 
below.  Unless otherwise stated, none of the transactions incorporate special terms and conditions and no 
guarantees were given or received. Outstanding balances are settled in cash.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

17 Related party transactions (Continued)

(a) Transactions with Board members

In accordance with the PMSA constitution, no Board Member may receive any remuneration for their 
services in their capacity as a Board Member of the PMSA.

The PMSA has a policy in relation to related party transactions to ensure that if the PMSA enters 
into transactions during the year with Board members, their firms or associated entities, then these 
transactions will be within normal customer relationships and on commercial terms and conditions no 
more favourable than those available to other customers or service providers.

(b) Transactions with related parties

Transactions between replated parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more 
favourable than those available to other parties unless otherwise stated.

During the financial year there were no related party transactions.

(c) Transactions with key management personnel

Key management of the PMSA are the Senior Leadership Team.  Key management personnel 
remuneration includes the following expenses.

2020
$000

2019
$000

Total key management personnel remuneration 2,054 2,229

18 Contingent liabilities

Pursuant to the conditions attached to Commonwealth and State Government capital grants made to the 
school via the Block Grant Authority, the PMSA is contingently liable to repay, based on a formula, all or 
part of the grants received if the project to which the funds are applied ceases to be used for the purpose 
approved or is sold or otherwise disposed of within 20 years of completion of the project.

The Board is of the opinion that the PMSA will continue in its current capacity and therefore no material 
liability is likely to materialise. 

There are currently a number of legal cases seeking damages claims against the PMSA which may give rise 
to future liabilities. The extent of any such liabilities is unable to be assessed with any degree of accuracy at 
this time.

The PMSA registered to be part of the National Redress Scheme during the current year. The National 
Redress Scheme is in response to the Royal Commission into Institutional Responses to Child Sexual Abuse 
and anyone who experienced institutional sexual abuse when they were a child (up to 1 July 2018) can apply 
to the National Redress Scheme. At the date of signing of the financial statements, no application has been 
made against the PMSA and as such the extent of any possible liabilities cannot be reasonably determined.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

19 Deductible Gift Recipient

The PMSA reporting group includes the following members that are endorsed as Deductible Gift 
Recipients (DGR) or that operate DGR funds. 

 – Brisbane Boys' College

 – Clayfield College

 – Somerville House

 – Sunshine Coast Grammar School

 20 Events after the reporting date 

There has not been any matter or circumstance occurring subsequent to the end of the financial year 
that has significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the PMSA, the results of those 
operations or the state of affairs of the PMSA in future financial years. 
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BOARD MEMBERS’ DECLARATION
For the year ended 31 December 2020

1. In the opinion of the Board Members of the Presbyterian and Methodist Schools Association (“the PMSA”):

(a) the PMSA is not a reporting entity; 

(b) the financial statements and notes, set out on pages 8 to 23, are in accordance with the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, including;

(i)  giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the PMSA as at 31 December 2020 and of its 
performance, as represented by the results of its operations for the financial year ended on that 
date in accordance with the basis of preparation described in Note 1; and

(ii)  comply with Australian Accounting Standards,  (including the Australian Accounting 
Interpretations)  to the extent described in Notes 1 to 3; and the  Australian Charites and Not-for-
profits Commission Regulation 2013; and

(c) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the PMSA will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
become due and payable. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board members:

Chair, PMSA Board 

MORGAN PARKER

Dated this 24th day of May 2021 

Chair, Audit Finance & Risk Committee

PETER BARKER
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration under subdivision 60-C 

section 60-40 of Australian Charities and Not-for-profits 

Commission Act 2012
  
 

To: the Board Members of Presbyterian and Methodist Schools Association 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2020 there have been: 

i. No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 in relation to the audit; and 

ii. No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

KPMG M J Jeffery  
Partner  
 
Brisbane 
24 May 2021 

KPM_INI_01          

PAR_SIG_01 PAR_NAM_01 PAR_POS_01 PAR_DAT_01 PAR_CIT_01      
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the members of Presbyterian and Methodist Schools Association 

Opinion 

We have audited the Financial Report, of 
the Presbyterian and Methodist Schools 
Association (the Association). 

In our opinion, the accompanying Financial 
Report of the Association is in accordance 
with Division 60 of the Australian Charities 
and Not-for-profits Commission (ACNC) 
Act 2012, including:   

i. Giving a true and fair view of the 
Association’s financial position as 
at 31 December 2020, and of its 
financial performance and its 
cash flows for the year ended on 
that date; and 

ii. Complying with Australian 
Accounting Standards to the 
extent described in Note 1 and 
Division 60 of the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits 
Commission Regulation 2013. 

The Financial Report comprises: 

i. Statement of financial position as at 31 
December 2020; 

ii. Statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, Statement of changes 
in equity, and Statement of cash flows for the 
year then ended;  

iii. Notes including a summary of significant 
accounting policies; and 

iv. Board Members’ declaration. 

 

Basis for  opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion. 

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the Financial Report section of our report.  

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the 
ACNC Act 2012 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards 
Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) 
(the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the Financial Report in Australia. We have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  
 
We confirm that the independence declaration required by the ACNC Act 2012, which has been given 
to the members of the Association on 24 May 2021, would be in the same terms if given to the 
members as at the time of this Auditor’s Report. 
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Emphasis of matter – basis of preparation and restriction on use 

We draw attention to Note 1 to the Financial Report, which describes the basis of preparation.  

The Financial Report has been prepared for the purpose of fulfilling the Board Members’ financial 
reporting responsibilities under the ACNC Act 2012 .As a result, the Financial Report and this Auditor’s 
Report may not be suitable for another purpose. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Our report is intended solely for the members of the Association and ACNC and should not be used by 
any other party. We disclaim any assumption of responsibility for any reliance on this Auditor’s Report, 
or on the Financial Report to which it relates to any person other than the members of the Association 
and  ACNC.  

Other information 

Other Information is financial and non-financial information in Presbyterian and Methodist Schools 
Association’s annual reporting which is provided in addition to the Financial Report and the Auditor’s 
Report. The Board Members are responsible for the Other Information.  

The Other Information we obtained prior to the date of this Auditor’s Report was the Board Member’s 
Report. 

Our opinion on the Financial Report does not cover the Other Information and, accordingly, we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the Financial Report, our responsibility is to read the Other Information. 
In doing so, we consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the Financial 
Report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

We are required to report if we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other 
Information, and based on the work we have performed on the Other Information that we obtained 
prior to the date of this Auditor’s Report we have nothing to report. 

Responsibilities of the Board Members for the Financial Report 

The Board Members are responsible for: 

i. Preparing the Financial Report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards and the ACNC; 

ii. Determining that the basis of preparation described in Notes 1to the Financial Report is 
appropriate to meet the requirements of the ACNC, the Act and Regulation. The basis of 
preparation is also appropriate to meet the needs of the members; 

iii. Implementing necessary internal control to enable the preparation of a Financial Report that 
gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error; and 

iv. Assessing the Association’s ability to continue as a going concern and whether the use of the 
going concern basis of accounting is appropriate. This includes disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they 
either intend to liquidate the Association or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative 
but to do so. 
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report 

Our objective is:  

i. To obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Report as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and  

ii. To issue an Auditor’s Report that includes our opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists.  

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. They are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of this Financial Report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.  

We also: 

i. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Financial Report, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

ii. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the Audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the registered Assoiciation’s internal control.  

iii. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board Members;  

iv. Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board Members’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the registered Association’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our Auditor’s Report to the related disclosures in the Financial 
Report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our Auditor’s Report. However, future events 
or conditions may cause the registered Association to cease to continue as a going concern; 
and  

v. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the Financial Report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the Financial Report represents the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
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We communicate with the Board Members of the registered Association regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

  
 

KPMG M J Jeffery 
Partner 
 
Brisbane  
26 May 2021 
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We communicate with the Board Members of the registered Association regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

  
 

KPMG M J Jeffery 
Partner 
 
Brisbane  
26 May 2021 
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